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I. INTRODUCTION 
 This is a request pursuant to 35 U.S.C. § 302 for ex parte reexamination of 

Robert Duane SOFIA, Method for the Prevention and Control of Epileptic 

Seizures, United States Letters Patent No. 4,978,680 (“the SOFIA patent”).   

 The invention claimed by the SOFIA patent was not first invented by 5 

SOFIA.  Rather, the invention claimed by SOFIA was disclosed in prior art as 

much as thirty years before the SOFIA patent was filed.  The patentee had actual 

knowledge of this prior art, and was aware of its materiality, yet failed to disclose 

it to the Examiner.  The Third-Party Requestor therefore respectfully believes that 

the SOFIA patent is invalid under 35 U.S.C. §§ 102 and 103.   10 

 The name and address of the person requesting reexamination is 

Pharmaceutical Patent Attorneys LLC, 55 Madison Ave., 4th floor, Morristown, NJ  

07960.   

  To the best of the undersigned’s knowledge, the patent at issue is not 

subject to any concurrent reissue, reexamination or interference proceeding, nor 15 

Federal Court litigation.  The immediate patent is related to Robert D. SOFIA, 

Method for the Prevention and Control of Epileptic Seizures…, United States 

Patent No. 5,082,861, for which the requestor has also requested reexamination.  
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The Patentee is involved in concurrent litigation styled MedPointe Pharma. Corp. 

d/b/a Wallace Pharmaceuticals v. Kozachuk, CIV-04-2019 (United States District 

Court for the District of New Jersey, Trenton, NJ).  Attached find copies of the 

AMENDED COMPLAINT and the ANSWER in that civil action.  As indicated in these 

pleadings, the SOFIA patent is not subject to that proceeding.    5 

 The patent at issue is anticipated by Alan Joseph WILENSKY et al., 

Pharmacokinetics of W-544 (ADD 03055) in Epileptic Patients, 26 EPILEPSIA 602 

(1985).  The patent at issue is anticipated by Frank M. BERGER, 2-Phenyl-1,3 

Propane Diol Dicarbamate, United States Letters Patent No. 2,884,444 (1959). 

The patent at issue is obvious in light of Frank M. BERGER, Dicarbamates of 10 

Substituted Propane Diols, United States Letters Patent No. 2,724,720 (1955) 

combined with Frank M. BERGER, 2-Phenyl-1,3 Propane Diol Dicarbamate, 

United States Letters Patent No. 2,884,444 (1959). The Patentee had actual 

knowledge of each of these references and understood their materiality.  The 

Patentee did not, however, provide any of them to the Office.    15 

 We first present the SOFIA patent.  We then compare the coverage of the 

SOFIA patent to each of the aforementioned references, and explain how the prior 

art teaches each and every element of the claim.  We conclude by identifying other 
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prior art not yet of record which is, on information and belief, in the Patentee’s 

possession, custody and control.   

II. ROBERT DUANE SOFIA’S PATENT 
 The patent at issue (“the SOFIA patent”) discloses and claims a method for 

treating seizures by using a compound called 2-phenyl,-1,3-propanediol 5 

dicarbamate.  The SOFIA patent recites only one claim:   

What is claimed is: 
1.  A method for reducing the incidence and severity of epileptic 
seizures which comprises administering to a warm-blooded animal in 
need of such treatment a therapeutic amount of 2-phenyl,-1,3-10 
propanediol dicarbamate. 

 

SOFIA’s claimed invention is thus quite straighforward: it entails administering a 

“therapeutic amount” of 2-phenyl,-1,3-propanediol dicarbamate to a warm-blooded 

animal.  As part of his patent application, SOFIA included an oath swearing that he 15 

was the true first inventor of this invention.  SOFIA’s oath is incorrect, because 

this invention was apparently first invented not by SOFIA, but by SOFIA’s 

colleague Frank M. BERGER.     

III. THE ‘444 PATENT TEACHES EVERY 
CLAIM ELEMENT OF THE SOFIA PATENT 20 
 The SOFIA patent was filed on 26 September 1989.  Thirty years before 

this, however, the same company patented the same drug for the same use.   
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 Tthe Patent Office issued Frank M. BERGER, 2-Phenyl-1,3 Propane Diol 

Dicarbamate, United States Letters Patent No. 2,884,444 (copy enclosed) on 28 

April 1959, thirty years before SOFIA filed his patent.  The ‘444 patent teaches the 

same chemical compound for the same use as is claimed by SOFIA.   

 For a prior art reference to anticipate, the reference must teach each and 5 

every element of the claimed invention.  E.g., In re Bond, 15 U.S.P.Q.2d 1566 

(Fed. Cir., 1990).  Where a reference teaches each claim element, the patent claim 

should be invalidated as anticipated.  See 35 U.S.C. § 102.   

 In the instant case, the ‘444 patent teaches each and every element of the 

invention claimed by SOFIA: 10 

The SOFIA patent, claim 1 The ‘444 patent 

1.  A method for reducing the incidence 
and severity of epileptic seizures 

anti-convulsant activity, see 1:17; 
preventing the occurrence of seizures, 
see e.g., 1:18, 2:26-30  

which comprises administering to a 
warm-blooded animal in need of such 
treatment 

Testing in warm-blooded animals such 
as mice, see 2:26-30 

a therapeutic amount of Doses that produce sleep, see 2:36; 
doses that protect from seizures, see 
2:37  

2-phenyl,-1,3-propanediol dicarbamate 2-phenyl,-1,3-propanediol dicarbamate.  
See e.g., 1:19. 
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Because the ‘444 patent teaches each and every limitation of the invention which is 

claimed by SOFIA, SOFIA’s patent claim is invalid as anticipated.  See 35 U.S.C. 

§ 102.   

 The Examiner did not know about the ‘444 patent during prosecution of the 

SOFIA patent.  In prosecuting the patent in suit, the Examiner searched U.S. 5 

Classes 514/534 and 514/541 (certain pharmaceutical compounds).  The ‘444 

patent, however, is not classified in 514/534, nor in 514/541.  To the contrary, it is 

not classified as a pharmaceutical at all; rather, it is classified in 560/164 – 

“miscellaneous organic compounds having a polyoxy alcohol moiety.”  The 

Examiner’s search of prior art pharmaceutical patents did not encompass the ‘444 10 

patent.   

 The Examiner did not know of the ‘444 patent.  In contrast, the patentee did.  

This is because the SOFIA patent and the ‘444 patent were both assigned to the 

same company, Carter-Wallace.  (The ’444 patent was assigned at issue to Carter 

Products, the predecessor of Carter-Wallace.)   15 

 While the patentee had actual knowledge of the prior art ’444 patent, the 

patentee failed to make it of record during prosecution of the SOFIA patent.  The 
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‘444 patent doe not appear among the references cited on the face of the SOFIA 

patent, nor among the references made of record during prosecution.   

 Rule 56 requires the Patentee to have disclosed to the Examiner “The closest 

information over which … any pending claim patentably defines.”  See 37 C.F.R. § 

1.56(a)(2).  The Patentee failed to do so.  By failing to do so, the Patentee violated 5 

its Rule 56 duty of candor.  The SOFIA patent should therefore be found invalid 

due to fraud on the Patent Office.   

IV. WILENSKY ET AL., (1985) TEACHES 
EACH ELEMENT OF THE SOFIA PATENT CLAIM  
 Alan Joseph WILENSKY et al., Pharmacokinetics of W-544 (ADD 03055) 10 

in Epileptic Patients, 26 EPILEPSIA 602 (1985) reports on the results of human 

testing of 2-phenyl,-1,3-propanediol dicarbamate (also known as “W-554”) as an 

anti-epileptic medicine.  In so doing, WILENSKY teaches the same chemical 

compound for the same use as is claimed by the SOFIA patent.  WILENSKY 

teaches each and every element of the invention claimed by SOFIA: 15 
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The SOFIA patent, claim 1 WILENSKY et al. 

1.  A method for reducing the incidence 
and severity of epileptic seizures 

“exhibits broad-spectrum antiepileptic 
activity,” page 602, col. 1 

which comprises administering to a 
warm-blooded animal in need of such 
treatment 

“Eight male patients with chronic 
uncontrolled partial seizures,” page 603, 
col. 1 

a therapeutic amount of “a moderate-to-marked reduction in 
seizure frequency,” page 604, col. 2 

2-phenyl,-1,3-propanediol dicarbamate “W-544” is 2-phenyl-1,3-propanediol 
dicarbamate, see page 602, col. 1; see 
also Fig. 1   

 

WILENSKY anticipates the SOFIA patent because WILENSKY teaches each and 

every element of SOFIA’s claimed invention.  See 35 U.S.C. § 102.   

 The Examiner did not know about WILENSKY during prosecution of the 

SOFIA patent.  To the contrary, the Examiner appears to have, perhaps due to a 5 

lack of facilities, not searched the scientific literature at all.     

 While the Examiner did not know about WILENSKY, the patentee (Wallace 

Laboratories) apparently did.  This is because in concluding their article, 

WILENSKY et al. expressly acknowledge the support of Wallace Laboratories for 

its “cooperation and the supply of W-554 used in this study.”  Id. at page 606, col. 10 

1.   
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 While the patentee knew of WILENSKY’s study, the patentee failed to 

provide this information to the Patent Office.  To the contrary, WILENSKY 

neither appears among the references cited on the face of the SOFIA patent, nor 

appears among the references which SOFIA voluntarily made of record during 

prosecution.   5 

 Rule 56 requires SOFIA to disclose to the Examiner “The closest 

information over which … any pending claim patentably defines.”  See 37 C.F.R. § 

1.56(a)(2).  The Patentee failed to do so.  By failing to do so, the Patentee violated 

its Rule 56 duty of candor.  The SOFIA patent should be found invalid due to fraud 

on the Patent Office.   10 

V.  THE ‘720 PATENT COMBINED WITH 
THE ‘444 PATENT TEACHES EVERY CLAIM 
ELEMENT OF THE SOFIA PATENT 
 On 22 November 1955, the Patent Office issued Frank M. BERGER, 

Dicarbamates of Substituted Propane Diols, United States Letters Patent No. 15 

2,724,720 (copy enclosed).  The ‘720 patent teaches a minor variant of the claimed 

chemical compound, for the same use, as is claimed by SOFIA.  Thus, the 

invention claimed to be invented by SOFIA is in truth a mere obvious variant of 

the invention previously disclosed by BERGER in the ‘720 patent: 
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The SOFIA patent, claim 1 The ‘720 patent 

1.  A method for reducing the incidence 
and severity of epileptic seizures 

Compounds possess “marked anti-
convulsant” properties, see e.g., 1:33, 
and prevent the occurrence of seizures, 
1:44-55  

which comprises administering to a 
warm-blooded animal in need of such 
treatment 

Testing in warm-blooded animals such 
as mice, see 1:50-54, 2:33-35 

a therapeutic amount of Doses that are “distinctly effective in 
protecting animals from electroshock 
seizures even 150 minutes after 
administration,” 2:37-40 

2-phenyl,-1,3-propanediol dicarbamate 2-ethyl-2-phenyl,-1,3-propanediol 
dicarbamate.  See e.g., 1:35 

 

The ‘720 patent therefore literally teaches every element of SOFIA’s claimed 

invention, except one: while SOFIA literally claims an invention which uses 2-

phenyl,-1,3-propanediol dicarbamate, the ‘720 patent teaches the 2-ethyl form of 

that same compound.    5 

 Where the prior art teaches two different compounds are useful for the same 

intendd purpose, however, it is as a matter of law prima facie obvious to substitute 

one compound for another.  See e.g., Sinclair & Carroll Co. v. Interchemical 

Corp., 325 U.S. 327 (1945); In re Leshin, 227 F.2d 197 (C.C.P.A., 1960); Ryco, 

Inc. v. Ag-Bag Corp., 857 F.2d 1418 (Fed. Cir. 1988) .   10 
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 In the instant case, the ‘444 patent teaches 2-phenyl,-1,3-propanediol 

dicarbamate, and the ‘720 patent teaches its 2-ethyl form.  Both prior art patents 

teach the compounds’ usefulness in preventing seizures.  Because the two 

compounds were known in the prior art to be suitable for the same intended 

purpose, it would have been obvious to substitute 2-phenyl,-1,3-propanediol 5 

dicarbamate for the 2-ethyl form taught by the ‘720 patent.  SOFIA therefore 

claims a mere obvious variant of the ‘720 patent.   

 The Examiner did not know about the ‘720 patent during prosecution of the 

SOFIA patent.  To the contrary, in reviewing the patent in suit, the Examiner 

searched U.S. Classes 514/534 and 514/541 (certain pharmaceutical compounds).  10 

The ‘720 patent, however, is not classified as a pharmaceutical compound; rather, 

it is classified as a miscellaneous organic compound.  Thus, the Examiner’s search 

did not encompass the ‘720 patent.   

 While the Examiner did not know of the ‘720 patent, the patentee did.  This 

is because the SOFIA patent and the ‘720 patent were both assigned to the same 15 

company.  (The ‘720 patent was assigned at issue to Carter Products, the 

predecessor of Carter-Wallace, the assignee at issue of the patent in suit.)   
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 While the patentee had actual knowledge of the ‘720 patent, SOFIA failed to 

make it of record during prosecution.  The ‘’720 patent thus neither appears among 

the references cited on the face of the SOFIA patent, nor appears among the 

references which SOFIA made of record during prosecution.   

 Rule 56 requires SOFIA to disclose to the Examiner “The closest 5 

information over which … any pending claim patentably defines.”  See 37 C.F.R. § 

1.56(a)(2).  SOFIA failed to do so.  By failing to do so, the Patentee violated its 

Rule 56 duty of candor. The SOFIA patent should be found invalid due to fraud on 

the Patent Office.   
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VI. THE OFFICE SHOULD ISSUE A 
REQUIREMENT UNDER RULE 105 THAT THE 
PATENTEE MAKE OF RECORD EWARD A. 
SWINYARD ET AL. (1982)  
 WILENSKY at page 602, col. 1 notes that 2-phenyl,-1,3-propanediol 5 

dicarbamate (W-554) was shown to “exhibit[] broad-spectrum antiepileptic activity 

in pre-clinical animal models.”  As support, WILENSKY cites to another 

publication, Eward A. SWINYARD and H.J. KUPFERBERG, The profile of 

anticonvulsant activity and acute toxicity of 03046, [2-phenyl,-1,3-propanediol 

dicarbamate] and some prototype antiepileptic drugs in mice and rats, (National 10 

Institutes of Health, Epilepsy Branch, 1982).  This article appears to be material 

because its title indicates that it discusses the same drug for the same use as the 

SOFIA patent claims.   

 On information and belief, one of the co-authors of the 1982 article (H.J. 

KUPFERBERG) is an employee of the patentee.  Thus, it appears that the 1982 15 

article is in the patentee’s possession, custody or control.   

 The Office has “an obligation to not unjustly issue patents.”  See M.P.E.P. § 

2001.04 (Aug. 2001).  To aid the Office in that endeavor, the Office can require a 

Patentee to submit information necessary to properly examine a patent.  See 37 

C.F.R. § 1.105 and M.P.E.P. § 704 et seq.  The Office thus has authority under 20 



In re Robert D. SOFIA, Method for the Prevention…, 
United States Letters Patent No. 4,978,680 

Reexamination Control No. 90/______ 
Filed 28 March 2006 

 
 

THIRD PARTY REQUEST FOR EX PARTE REEXAMINATION - Page 16 

Rule 105 to require an applicant to submit all information necessary to evaluate an 

allegation of fraud on the Patent Office.  See M.P.E.P. § 2005 (Aug. 2001). 

 The Office should therefore issue a Rule 105 Requirement for Information 

requiring the Patentee to make of record E.A. SWINYARD et al. (1982).   

VII. SUMMARY 5 
 The SOFIA patent claims an invention which was not first invented by 

Robert Duane SOFIA.  Rather, the SOFIA patent claims an invention which was 

previously taught by Frank BERGER (the ‘444 patent), by Dr. Alan J. 

WILENSKY et al., and by Frank BERGER (the ‘720 patent).  The SOFIA patent 

thus is invalid under 35 U.S.C. 102 and 103.   10 

 In addition, the SOFIA patent appears invalid due to fraud on the Patent 

Office. 

 Enclosed find the fee to request reexamination, and copies of each of the 

references discussed together with a listing thereof on PTO Form 1449.   

 The Requestor respectfully requests the Director make a determination 15 

pursuant to 35 U.S.C. § 312(a) that a substantial new question of patentability 

exists, and issue an order pursuant to 35 U.S.C. § 313 ordering an inter partes 

reexamination of the SOFIA patent. 
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Respectfully submitted by 
PHARMACEUTICAL PATENT ATTORNEYS, LLC 
Attorneys for Reexamination Requestor 
 
 5 
__/s/_____________________________________ 
By Mark Pohl, U.S. Patent Office Registration No. 35,325 
55 Madison Avenue, 4th floor 
Morristown, New Jersey 07960-7397 
(973) 984-0076 10 
28 March 2006 
mbc:mp 
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Kevin B. CLARKE, Esq. 
Wallace Laboratories 
265 Davidson Avenue 
Somerset, New Jersey  08873     
 BY PRIORITY MAIL 
 With Delivery Confirmation  
 No. 0304 0370 0001 6258 1743 
 

Re:  Request for Ex Parte Reexamination of Robert Duane SOFIA, United States Letters 
Patent No. 4,978,680 and Request for Ex Parte Reexamination of Robert Duane 
SOFIA, United States Letters Patent No. 5,082,861 

 
 
 
Dear Mr. CLARKE: 

  Enclosed find Service copies of the two captioned Requests for Ex Parte 

Reexamination.  I assume that you will forward copies of these to your outside counsel; if you 

would like me to do this, please advise.   

Sincerely,  
 
 
 
J. Mark POHL 
Mbc:mp 
 
Enclosures 
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I. INTRODUCTION 
 The patent at issue is Robert Duane SOFIA, Method for the Prevention and 

Control of Epileptic Seizure, United States Letters Patent No. 4,978,680 (“the 

SOFIA patent”).   

 On 31 March 2006, the Requestor filed a REQUEST FOR EX PARTE 5 

REEXAMINATION of the SOFIA patent because SOFIA claims credit for making an 

invention which he did not in fact make.  To the contrary, SOFIA copied his 

claimed invention from other inventors’ prior published work.  The SOFIA patent 

is therefore invalid under 35 U.S.C. § 102 as anticipated by another scientist’s 

prior publication.   10 

 The REQUEST also explains how SOFIA had actual knowledge of this prior 

work, yet intentionally concealed it from the Examiner; thus, the SOFIA patent 

should be found invalid due to fraud on the Patent Office.   

 Since filing the REQUEST, the Requestor has identified two more relevant 

prior art references.  Each of these shows that the SOFIA patent is invalid.  15 

Further, SOFIA knew of these two references, because he is a named co-author on 

both of them.  Nonetheless, SOFIA failed to provide these to the Examiner.  These 
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two references show that the SOFIA patent is invalid under 35 U.S.C. §§ 102, and 

should also be invalidated due to intentional fraud on the Patent Office.   

 This supplemental request is believed timely filed because the Office has not 

yet acted on the REQUEST FOR REEXAMINATION.   

II. EWART A. SWINYARD ET AL. (1986) TEACHES 5 
EVERY CLAIM ELEMENT OF THE SOFIA PATENT 
 Ewart A. SWINYARD et al., Comparative Anticonvulsant Activity and 

Neurotoxicity of Felbamate…, 27 EPILEPSIA 27 (1986) teaches each and every 

element of the invention claimed by SOFIA.   

 The SOFIA patent recites only one claim.  SOFIA claims an invention which 10 

is not his own; to the contrary, this invention was previously published by 

SWINYARD et al. (1986):   
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The SOFIA patent, claim 1 SWINYARD (1986) 

1.  A method for reducing the incidence 
and severity of epileptic seizures  

“antiepileptic agent with a unique 
spectrum of anticonvulsant activity.”  
See page 27, col. 1 

Which comprises administering to a 
warm-blooded mammal  

Male albino mice and male albino rats 
(Sprague-Dawley strain), e.g., page 27, 
col. 2, are both warm-blooded mammals  

in need of such treatment Potentially-fatal seizures were induced 
by administering pentylenetetrazol, page 
27, col. 2, maximal electroshock, page 
28, col. 1, bicuculline, id., et cetera   

A therapeutic amount of Therapeutically effective dosages of, 
inter alia, 132 to 549 milligrams per 
kilogram of rat body weight are taught 
to reduce or prevent seizures.  See Table 
3, column 9.    

2-phenyl,-1,3-propanediol dicarbamate. Another name for 2-phenyl,-1,3-
propanediol dicarbamate is “felbamate.”  
See page 27, col. 2   

 

 SOFIA therefore claims an invention which was in fact previously published 

by SWINYARD (1986).   The SOFIA patent is therefore invalid under 35 U.S.C. § 

102.   
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III. EWART A. SWINYARD ET AL., (1987) 
TEACHES EVERY CLAIM ELEMENT OF THE 
SOFIA PATENT CLAIM  
 Ewart A. SWINYARD et al., The Effect of Chronic Felbamate 

Administration on Anticonvulsant Activity…, 28 EPILEPSIA 295 (1987) teaches each 5 

element of the invention claimed by SOFIA: 

The SOFIA patent, claim 1 SWINYARD (1987) 

1.  A method for reducing the incidence 
and severity of epileptic seizures  

“a candidate antiepileptic drug … with a 
unique profile of anticonvulsant 
activity.”  See page 295, col. 1 

Which comprises administering to a 
warm-blooded mammal  

Male albino mice and male albino rats 
(Sprague-Dawley strain), e.g., page 295, 
col. 2, are both warm-blooded mammals  

in need of such treatment Potentially-fatal seizures were induced 
by administering pentylenetetrazol, 
maximal electroshock, et cetera. See 
page 296, col. 1     

A therapeutic amount of Therapeutically effective dosages are 
taught to reduce or prevent seizures.  
See e.g.,  Table 1.    

2-phenyl,-1,3-propanediol dicarbamate. Another name for 2-phenyl,-1,3-
propanediol dicarbamate is “felbamate.”  
See page 295, col. 1   
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SOFIA claims credit for the exact same invention which SWINYARD et al. made 

published in 1987, years before SOFIA filed his patent application.  SOFIA’s 

patent is therefore invalid under 35 U.S.C. § 102.   

IV. SOFIA COMMITED FRAUD ON THE PATENT 
OFFICE 5 
 SOFIA is listed as a co-author of for both SWINYARD (1986) and 

SWINYARD (1987).  Thus, SOFIA had actual knowledge of this prior work.  

While SOFIA knew of this work, he failed to disclose to the Patent Office his 

colleagues’ contributions.  To the contrary, SOFIA concealed this prior work from 

The Patent Office completely.   10 

 Rule 56 requires SOFIA to have disclosed to the Examiner all information 

which is material to patentability.  See 37 C.F.R. § 1.56(a)(2).  SOFIA failed to do 

so.  By failing to do so, SOFIA violated his Rule 56 duty of candor.  The SOFIA 

patent should therefore be found invalid due to fraud on the Patent Office.   

15 



In re Robert D. SOFIA, Method for the Prevention…, 
United States Letters Patent No. 4,978,680 
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V. SUMMARY 
 The SOFIA patent claims an invention which was not first invented by 

Robert Duane SOFIA.  Rather, SOFIA claims an invention is a mere obvious 

variant of an invention previously described by Eward A. SWINYARD et al. 

several years before SOFIA filed his patent application.   The SOFIA patent thus is 5 

invalid under 35 U.S.C. §102 as anticipated by another scientist’s prior publication.   

 In addition, the SOFIA patent appears invalid due to fraud on the Patent 

Office. 

Respectfully submitted by 
PHARMACEUTICAL PATENT ATTORNEYS, LLC 10 
Attorneys for Third-Party Reexamination Requestor 
 
 
__/mark pohl/______________________ 
By Mark Pohl, U.S. Patent Office Registration No. 35,325 15 
55 Madison Avenue, 4th floor 
Morristown, New Jersey 07960-7397 
(973) 984-0076 
5 April 2006 
mbc:mp 20 
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THIS RESPONSE IS 
AUTHORIZED BY RULE 535 
  A patent owner is not required to submit a response under Rule 530.  

If, however, the patent owner does so, then the third party requestor has a right to 

respond under Rule 535.   5 

  In the immediate case, the patent owner filed an After-Final 

Amendment on 22 January 2007.  That amendment was made pursuant to Rule 530.  

See 37 C.F.R. § 1.121(j) (“Any proposed amendment to the description and claims 

in patents involved in reexamination proceedings must be made in accordance with 

§ 1.530”); Amendment (22 January 2007) at page 1 (asserting that “the Patent 10 

Owner submits the following Amendments and Remarks, in accordance with 37 

C.F.R. §§ 1.530(d)-(j) and 1.550(b)”).   

  The third-party requestor accordingly has a right under Rule 535 to 

respond.  See 37 C.F.R. § 1.535.  

  This Response is accordingly submitted pursuant to Rule 535.  This 15 

Response being submitted within two months of the patent owner’s Rule 530 

amendment, this Response is respectfully believed timely filed.  
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RULE 116(B) PROHIBITS ENTRY OF 
THE AFTER-FINAL AMENDMENT 
  Reexamination procedure is expedited.  It therefore requires issues to 

be raised early in the reexamination process.  Office procedure thus says that 

prosecution should be conclude before a final office action, not after: 5 

It is intended that prosecution before the examiner in a reexamination 
proceeding will be concluded with the final action.  Once a final 
rejection that is not premature has been entered in a reexamination 
proceeding, the patent owner no longer has any right to unrestricted 
further prosecution. 10 
 

Manual Pat. Exam. Proc. § 2272.   

  In the immediate case, the final action was not premature.  Thus, the 

patent owner no longer has a right to unrestricted further prosecution.  To the 

contrary, for an amendment to be entered after final, the amendment must comply 15 

with the “strict standards” of Rule 116.  Id.   

  Rule 116 requires the amendment to be accompanied by an 

evidentiary showing of facts establishing “good and sufficient reasons why the 

amendment was not earlier presented.”  See 37 C.F.R. § 1.116(b).   

  In the instant case, the patent owner’s late-raised amendment fails to 20 

provide the required evidentiary showing.  To the contrary, the amendment ignores 

this requirement entirely.  The patent owner failed to comply with the “strict 

standards” of Rule 116.  Because the patent owner has not even attempted to 
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comply with Rule 116, the Office lacks legal authority to enter the after-final 

amendment.   

  Further, the patent owner appears to withhold the required evidence 

because that evidence would show that the amendment is not permissible.  Rule 

116 prohibits entering an amendment which could have been presented earlier.  See 5 

37 C.F.R. § 1.116(b).  In the immediate case, the Office’s 26 April 2006 Office 

Action invited the patent owner to file a Rule 530 response not later than June, 

2006.   

  The patent owner could have filed its amendment at that time.  The 

patent owner, however, refused to do so.  To the contrary, the patent owner refused 10 

to respond to the Office Action at all.  The patent owner could have filed its 

amendment on time, but simply refused to do so.  The patent owner cannot 

belatedly raise it now.   See 37 C.F.R. § 1.116(b).   

NEW CLAIM 2 IS NOT SUPPORTED 
BY THE ORIGINAL DISCLOSURE 15 
  Where the originally filed disclosure does not provide support for 

each claim limitation, the claim must be rejected under 35 U.S.C. § 112, first 

paragraph as lacking adequate written description.  See e.g., In re Wright, 866 F.2d 

422 (Fed. Cir., 1989).   

  The sole pending claim is newly-added claim 2.  Claim 2 recites the 20 

new claim limitations “the sole active component administered” and “in a human.” 
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Adding these new limitations is prohibited because they are not taught in the 

original disclosure.  See 35 U.S.C. § 112, first paragraph. 

  Applicant alleges that the new limitations are supported in the 

Specification at 1:5-16; 2:9-11; and 2:27-29.  None of these sections, however, 

even mentions “human” use, and the cited sections indeed say that the invention 5 

does not use felbamate as the sole active component.   

  For example, the Specification says, “The present invention relates to 

pharmaceutical compositions containing 2-phenyl-1,3-propanediol dicarbamate as 

an active component.”  See Specification at 1:5-7 (emphasis mine).  Similarly, the 

Specification says, “the present invention further relates to … therapeutic 10 

compositions which contain as an active ingredient 2-phenyl-1,3-propanediol 

dicarbamate.”  Id. at 1:10-16.  The Specification thus says that Sofia’s alleged 

invention relates to add-on compositions wherein felbamate is an active ingredient 

– i.e., one among several – rather than the only ingredient.   

  The patent owner may argue that proposed new claim 2 simply adds 15 

new limitations to a previously-presented claim.  This statement, however, while 

true, fails to make the amendment allowable, because adding a narrowing 

limitation which is not supported by the original disclosure violates the written 

description requirement.  See e.g., In re Ruschig , 379 F.2d 990, 995 (C.C.P.A., 

1967) (while the new claim limitation is a simple change from the original 20 
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disclosure, the new limitation was not disclosed and thus cannot be used); Ex parte 

Ohshiro, 14 U.S.P.Q.2d 1750 (B.P.A.I., 1989); Fujikawa v. Wattanasin, 93 F.3d 

1559, 1571 (Fed. Cir. 1996).  

  Claim 2 is thus barred under both 35 U.S.C. 112, first paragraph and 

under 37 C.F.R. § 1.530(j) (no amendment may introduce new matter into the 5 

claims).   

THE PATENT OWNER PROVIDES NO EVIDENCE 
THAT THE CLAIMED INVENTION IS “MATERIALLY 
CHANGED” FROM THE PRIOR ART 
  The patent owner concedes that WILENSKY teaches administering 10 

felbamate together with another known anti-epileptic medicine(s).  The patent 

owner has therefore amended claim 2 to limit it to a one-ingredient drug product.  

The patent owner explains that claim 2 “now recites the transitional term 

‘consisting of’ (in place of ‘comprising’) as well as that ‘2-phenyl-1,3-propanediol 

dicarbamate is the sole active component administered.”  See Amendment (22 Jan. 15 

2007) at 4.  The patent owner explains that this amendment is intended to exclude  

the multiple-ingredient methods taught by WILENSKY.   

  Where an applicant contends that the additional materials taught by 

the prior art are excluded by the transitional phrase “consisting of,” the applicant 

bears the burden of introducing into the record factual evidence showing that the 20 

introduction of those additional materials would materially change the 
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characteristics of the claimed invention.  See In re De Lajarte, 337 F.2d 870 

(C.C.P.A., 1964); see also Manual Pat. Exam. Proc. § 2111.03 (2006).  

  In the instant case, the Examiner correctly notes that the patent owner 

has failed to provide this evidence.  See Final Office Action at 5-6 (21 Nov. 2006).  

Claim 2 must therefore be rejected because the patent owner has not bothered to 5 

provide the Examiner with the required factual evidence.   

  Further, the patent owner has apparently withheld this factual 

evidence because this evidence shows that prior-art anti-epileptics do not 

materially affect the basic and novel anti-epileptic characteristics of felbamate.  See 

Walter E. KOZACHUK, Declaration (February, 2007).  This evidence thus 10 

contradicts the patent owner.  

THE PRIOR ART TEACHES THE 
INVENTION OF NEW  CLAIM 2 
  The patent owner concedes that WILENSKY teaches administering 

felbamate together with other known anti-epileptic medicines.  The patent owner 15 

attempts to avoid WILENSKY by limiting claim 2 in two ways: by limiting it to a 

felbamate-only method, and by limiting claim 2 to specific dosage amounts.  These 

amendments, however, fail to save claim 2 because claim 2 nonetheless still reads 

on the prior art.   



Reexamination Control No. 90/007,991 

RULE 535 REPLY – Page 10 

The Prior Art Teaches Felbamate-Only Methods 

WILENSKY Teaches Felbamate-Only Methods 
  WILENSKY teaches that felbamate was, in 1985, already known in 

the art to be effective to treat epilepsy when used alone.  WILENSKY says 

felbamate “has broad-spectrum anti-epileptic activity.”  See Abstract.  5 

WILENSKY also says that the felbamate “chemical structure is similar to that of 

the antianxiety agent meprobamate.  However, in contrast to meprobamate, 

[felbamate] exhibits broad-spectrum anti-epileptic activity in pre-clinical animal 

models.”  Id. at 602, col. 1, citing E.A. Swinyard et al., The Profile of 

Anticonvulsant Activity And Acute Toxicity …, (1982) (Nat. Inst. Of Health, publ.)  10 

WILENSKY thus teaches that at the time of his study, it was already widely-

known to use felbamate alone.1    

  WILENSKY thus does not investigate the already-known safety and 

utility of felbamate monotherapy.  Rather, WILENSKY thus investigates whether 

felbamate would be safe and effective as an add-on medication.  Id. at 602, col. 1 15 

(noting that an objective of the study is “to determine the effect of [felbamate] on 

seizure frequency when given as an add-on medication.”).   

                                                 
1 Felbamate mono-therapy is also taught by SWINYARD (1986) at page 27, col. 1.; 
BERGER (1959) at col. 1; BERGER (1953) at col. 2.    
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  While WILENSKY investigates add-on use, his investigation does not 

negate the already-known utility as mono-therapy.  To the contrary, WILENSKY 

found that add-on therapy requires monitoring for toxic drug interations.   

  WILENSKY found that administering felbamate together with 

phenytoin or carbamazepine caused toxic drug interactions.  WILENSKY noted, 5 

“Most of the toxicity recorded during the study was associated with increased 

levels of [phenytoin] or [carbamazepine].  Subjects 1, 3, and 4 experienced 

[phenytoin] toxicity when their serum levels rose from baseline levels.”  Id. at 604, 

col. 2.  WILENSKY concluded that phenytoin “levels rose dramatically in three of 

four subjects when W-544 was added; in two of these, the [phenytoin] dose had to 10 

be reduced because of intolerable toxicity. … The increases in [phenytoin] levels 

in subjects 1 and 3 cannot be explained by changes in compliance; rather, they 

appear to reflect a true drug interaction.”  Id. at 605, col.1.   

  Notably, WILENKSY found toxic drug interactions in three of the 

patients tested.  The entire study, however, involved only eight patients.  Thus, 15 

WILENSKY found toxic adverse drug interactions in 38% of patients using add-

on therapy.  This is an extremely high frequency of toxicity.   

  Thus, while WILENSKY reiterates the known efficacy of felbamate 

monotherapy, WILENSKY teaches the danger of using felbamate as add-on 

therapy.   20 
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The Alleged Inventor Concealed 
Information on Toxic Drug Interactions 
From The Food & Drug Administration 

  WILENSKY’s research is somewhat unusual in the rarified world of 

patent jurisprudence because his research had a quite tragic real-world aspect.   5 

  The patent owner undoubtedly knew of the WILENSKY study, 

because the patent owner sponsored it, and because the alleged patent inventor is a 

named co-author.  When the patent owner asked the F.D.A. for permission to sell 

felbamate, however, it had a choice: the patent owner could have filed a more 

expensive application to sell felbamate as monotherapy, or a less expensive 10 

application to sell felbamate as an add-on therapy.   

  Despite WILENSKY teaching a 38% risk of toxic drug interaction, 

the patent owner pursued the less expensive application to sell felbamate as add-on 

therapy.   

  The results were predictable - and horrific.  In 1993, the Food & Drug 15 

Administration granted the patent owner permission to sell felbamate as an add-on 

therapy. Within a year, felbamate add-on use was associated with over seventy 

reported cases of aplastic anemia or liver damage, including nearly twenty reported 

deaths.  See Monica Valentino v. Carter-Wallace, Inc., slip op. 95-15935 (9th Cir., 

Oct. 7, 1996).   20 

  The patent owner nonetheless continued to aggressively advertise 

felbamate for add-on use:  
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Prior to and during the publication of the advertisements, Carter-
Wallace learned that some patients taking Felbatol were developing 
illnesses. Pursuant to FDA regulation, drug manufacturers must relay 
to the FDA reports from doctors describing illnesses developed by 
patients using the manufacturer's product, regardless of whether there 5 
is a known or perceived causal connection between the drug and the 
illness. See 21 C.F.R. § 314.80 (1999). Among the most serious 
illnesses reported to Carter-Wallace was aplastic anemia, a frequently 
fatal form of acquired bone marrow failure. According to the 
complaint, from October 1993 until July 1994, Carter-Wallace 10 
received and was aware of at least fifty- seven adverse medical reports 
relating to Felbatol, including at least six deaths and six cases of 
aplastic anemia. In July 1994, Carter-Wallace received four additional 
reports of aplastic anemia, along with reports of other illnesses and 
deaths. On August 1, 1994, Carter-Wallace, in association with the 15 
FDA, sent a letter to doctors warning of an association between 
Felbatol and aplastic anemia. The letter recommended the immediate 
withdrawal of patients from treatment with Felbatol.  
 

In re Carter-Wallace Inc. Securities Litigation, slip op. 99-9475 (2nd Cir., Aug. 7, 20 

2000).  The Food & Drug Administration became involved and, in August 1994, 

severely restricted the patent owner’s ability to further market felbamate.  A 

follow-up study investigating these patient deaths found that while monotherapy 

appeared safe, every patient death occurred when felbamate was combined with 

another antiepileptic drug.  See e.g., Walter E. Kozachuk, Declaration (Feb. 2007), 25 

citing D.W. KAUFMAN et al., Evaluation of Case Reports of Aplastic Anemia 

Among Patients Treated With Felbamate, 38 Epilepsia 1265 (1997) (WEK001055 

et seq.). 

  Patient deaths are unfortunate.  Avoidable patient deaths are tragic.  

Deaths caused by concealing known risks from the F.D.A. are inexcusable.   30 
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  In this case, the patent owner began to sell felbamate for add-on use in 

1993.  Several years earlier, however, WILENSKY had clearly showed that such 

add-on use entails a high likelihood of toxic drug interactions.  The patent owner 

undoubtedly knew of the WILENSKY study, because the patent owner sponsored 

it (see WILENSKY at the Acknowledgements section), and because the patent 5 

owner’s alleged inventor (Robert Duane SOFIA) is a named co-author of  

WILENSKY.   

  The alleged inventor knew of WILENSKY, yet concealed it from the 

Patent Office during prosecution of the patent in suit.  Frighteningly, the patent 

owner gave this same executive responsibility for forewarning the Food & Drug 10 

Administration of potential toxic drug interactions.  See Walter E. KOZACHUK, 

Declaration (February 2007).  Had that executive candidly explained the 

WILENSKY study findings to the F.D.A., a number of patient deaths could have 

been easily avoided.   

SWINYARD and WILENSKY Teach 15 
Felbamate Monotherapy 

  The Examiner correctly asserts that WILENSKY combined with 

SWINYARD suggest the use of felbamate alone.   

  In response, the patent owner’s attorney alleges that WILENSKY 

teaches away from using felbamate alone.  One of skill in the art, however, would 20 



Reexamination Control No. 90/007,991 

RULE 535 REPLY – Page 15 

read WILENSKY and SWINYARD to each suggest monotherapy.  See Walter E. 

KOZACHUK, Declaration (Feb., 2007).   

The Claimed Dosage Range Reads 
on The Prior Art Dosage Ranges 
  WILENSKY teaches a daily dosage of 200 to 1,600 milligrams.  See 5 

WILENSKY at, e.g., Abstract.  WILENSKY does not teach an actual reduction to 

practice of dosages above 1,600 milligrams.  WILENSKY does, however, teach 

that one of skill in the art would know to “titrate,” or gradually adjust, the daily 

dosage of anti-seizure medication to suit the individual patient.  WILENSKY 

teaches that his group in fact actually did titrate daily dosages to increase them.  10 

See id. at 602, col. 2 (“On day 9, upward titration of the W-544 dose began.”).   

  In predicting the effect of increased dosage on serum concentration of 

drug, WILENSKY notes that “the dose-level relationship was linear, with doses of 

400 – 1,600 mg/day producing [serum] levels of ~5-20 mg/L.”  Id. at 604, col. 1.  

Given the linear relationship and the lack of toxicity, WILENSKY thus concludes, 15 

“the maximum tolerated dose is greater than 1,600 mg/day.”  Id. at 605, col. 2.   

  Thus, while WILENSKY fails to teach an actual reduction to practice 

of dosages greater than 1,600 mg, WILENSKY expressly suggests that such 

greater dosages will be safe, and will produce a predictable, linear rise in plasma 

levels of drug.  WILENSKY thus renders obvious dosages grater than 1,600 20 

milligrams.   
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  Claim 2 claims “a daily dosage of from about 100 milligrams to about 

5 grams.”  The claimed dosage range overlaps the prior art dosage range.  The 

claimed dosage range is therefore obvious in light of WILENSKY.  See e.g., In re 

Wertheim, 541 F.2d 257 (C.C.P.A., 1976); In re Woodruff, 919 F.2d 1575 (Fed. 

Cir., 1990); In re Geisler, 116 F.3d 1465 (Fed. Cir., 1997).   5 

  The patent owner’s attorney alleges that WILENSKY does not teach 

“the proper therapeutic dose” for felbamate monotherapy.  See Amendment (22 

Jan. 2007) at 6.  This argument, however, is a red herring.  The issue is  not 

whether WILENSKY teaches “proper” dosages; rather, the issue is whether 

WILENSKY teaches the claimed dosages.  Here, the patent owner does not dispute 10 

that WILENSKY teaches the claimed dosage. 
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THE EXAMINER SHOULD ISSUE AN 
ADVISORY ACTION REFUSING ENTRY 
OF THE AFTER-FINAL AMENDMENT 
  The after-final amendment should be refused entry because it is 

prohibited by Rule 116(b) and because it fails to place the claim in condition for 5 

allowance.  The Examiner should therefore issue an Advisory Action advising that 

the amendment will not be entered, and reminding the patent owner of the non-

extendible deadline for filing for an appeal.  See Manual Pat. Exam. Proc. § 2272 

(2006) (“The period for response may not, however, be extended to run past 6 

months from the date of the final rejection.”).   10 

  Respectfully submitted on behalf of the Third-Party Requestor by its 

attorneys,  

PHARMACEUTICAL PATENT ATTORNEYS, LLC 
 
 15 
/mark pohl/ 
J. Mark POHL, Reg. No. 35,325 
22 February 2007 
 
55 Madison Avenue, 4th floor 20 
Morristown, New Jersey 07960-7397 U.S.A. 
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1) I am a medical doctor.  I am a specialist in neurology.  I have several 

decades of experience in researching felbamate and in treating epileptic 

patients with felbamate and with other anti-convulsive medicines.  I 20 

therefore respectfully believe that I am one of skill in the art.   

2) I have read and understand the captioned patents, A.J. WILENSKY et al., 

Pharmacokinetics of W-544 (ADD 03055) In Epileptic Patients, Epilepsia v. 

26, pp. 602-606 (1985) and Ewart A. SWINYARD et al., Compariative 

Anticonvulsant Activity and Neurotoxicity of Felbamate…, Epilepsia v. 27, 25 

pp. 27-34 (1986), and the Frank BERGER ‘444 patent.   
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A.J. WILENSKY et al., Pharmacokinetics 
of W-544 (ADD 03055) In Epileptic Patients, 
Epilepsia v. 26, pp. 602-606 (1985) 
 

WILENSKY Teaches That Felbamate Monotherapy is Effective 5 
3) One of skill in the art would read WILENSKY to teach that felbamate 

monotherapy is effective to treat epileptic seizures.   

4) WILENSKY teaches that felbamate was, in 1985, already known in the art 

to be effective to treat epilepsy when used alone.  WILENSKY says 

felbamate “has broad-spectrum anti-epileptic activity.”  See Abstract.  10 

WILENSKY also says that the felbamate “chemical structure is similar to 

that of the antianxiety agent meprobamate.  However, in contrast to 

meprobamate, [felbamate] exhibits broad-spectrum anti-epileptic activity in 

pre-clinical animal models.”  Id. at 602, col. 1, citing E.A. Swinyard et al., 

The Profile of Anticonvulsant Activity And Acute Toxicity …, (1982) (Nat. 15 

Inst. Of Health, publ.)  WILENSKY thus teaches that at the time of his study, 

it was already widely-known to use felbamate alone.1  

5) WILENSKY teaches that felbamate is effective.  WILENSKY nowhere 

suggests that felbamate is effective only if administered with phenytoin or 

carbamazepine.  Thus, one of skill in the art would read WILENSKY to 20 

teach that felbamate is effective, regardless of whether it is used alone, or 
                                                 
1 Felbamate mono-therapy is also taught by SWINYARD (1986) at page 27, col. 1.; 
BERGER (1959) at col. 1; BERGER (1953) at col. 2.    
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together with phenytoin, or with carbamazepine, or with some other anti-

seizure medication.  

6) WILENSKY notes that “the results with respect to efficacy are promising, 

and further controlled studies are indicated.”  One of skill in the art would 

not read this to discourage use of felbamate monotherapy.  To the contrary, 5 

one of skill in the art would read this to encourage it, by suggesting that 

felbamate is efficacious.   

7) WILENSKY notes that his results are not definitive.  One of skill in the art, 

however, does not need “definitive” results to appreciate WILENSKY’s 

teaching of monotherapy as useful.   10 

8) WILENSKY teaches dosages of 200 to 1,600 milligrams of felbamate per 

day.  Based on my clinical experience prescribing felbamate, these dosages 

would indeed be correct felbamate monotherapy dosages for certain patients.     

 
WILENSKY Teaches That Adjunct Therapy 15 
May Create Drug Interaction Toxicity 
9) Felbamate shares the same novel anti-epileptic properties as phenytoin and 

carbamazepine.  Neither phenytoin nor carbamazepine materially affect the 

basic and novel anti-epileptic characteristics of felbamate.  One may 

administer felbamate alone (as monotherapy) or together with one or more 20 

other anti-epileptic medicines (adjunct therapy or “add-on therapy”).  
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Combining felbamate with phenytoin or carbamazepine does not materially 

affect the basic and novel anti-epileptic characteristics of felbamate.   

10) WILENSKY confirms this.  WILENSKY teaches results obtained by 

administering felbamate together with phenytoin or carbamazepine, two 

anti-convulsant drugs in use at the time.  One of skill in the art would 5 

therefore read WILENSKY to teach that joint administration of felbamate 

with phenytoin or carbamazepine results in the retention of the anti-seizure 

activity of both felbamate and the other administered drug.   

11) WILENSKY investigates whether felbamate would be safe and 

effective as an add-on medication.  Id. at 602, col. 1 (noting that an objective 10 

of the study is “to determine the effect of [felbamate] on seizure frequency 

when given as an add-on medication.”).   

12) While WILENSKY investigates add-on use, his investigation does not 

discourage use of felbamate’s already-known utility as monotherapy.   

13) To the contrary, WILENSKY found that add-on therapy entailed 15 

potentially dangerous drug interactions.  WILENSKY found that 

administering felbamate together with phenytoin or carbamazepine caused 

toxic and potentially-dangerous drug interactions.  WILENSKY noted, 

“Most of the toxicity recorded during the study was associated with 

increased levels of [phenytoin] or [carbamazepine].  Subjects 1, 3, and 4 20 
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experienced [phenytoin] toxicity when their serum levels rose from baseline 

levels.”  Id. at 604, col. 2.  WILENSKY concluded that phenytoin “levels 

rose dramatically in three of four subjects when W-544 was added; in two of 

these, the [phenytoin] dose had to be reduced because of intolerable 

toxicity. … The increases in [phenytoin] levels in subjects 1 and 3 cannot be 5 

explained by changes in compliance; rather, they appear to reflect a true 

drug interaction.”  Id. at 605, col.1.  Notably, WILENKSY found toxic drug 

interactions in three of the patients tested.  The entire study, however, 

involved only eight patients.  Thus, WILENSKY found toxic adverse drug 

interactions in 38% of patients using add-on therapy.  10 

14) Thus, while WILENSKY reiterates the known efficacy of felbamate 

monotherapy, WILENSKY cautions that when combining felbamate with 

other antiepileptic medicines, it may be necessary to titrate down the level of 

the non-felbamate drug to avoid the risk of adverse drug interactions.  Read 

as a whole, one of skill in the art would read WILENSKY to confirm the 15 

efficacy of felbamate monotherapy.   

15) On information and belief: Robert Duane SOFIA worked at Wallace 

Laboratories.  Mr. SOFIA was the Director of Toxicology responsible for 

reviewing clinical research on felbamate before Wallace Laboratories began 

to commercially sell felbamate.  As such, Mr. SOFIA was responsible for 20 
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investigating possible adverse drug interactions, and for reporting any such 

interactions to the United States Food & Drug Administration.   

 
D.W. KAUFMAN et al., Evaluation of Case Reports of 
Aplastic Anemia Among Patients Treated With Felbamate, 5 
38 Epilepsia 1265 (1997) (WEK001055 et seq.) 

16) WILENSKY teaches that felbamate combined with another 

antiepileptic drug may create a toxic drug interaction.  This finding was 

confirmed by later research.  For example, I attach here a copy of D.W. 

KAUFMAN et al., Evaluation of Case Reports of Aplastic Anemia Among 10 

Patients Treated With Felbamate, 38 Epilepsia 1265 (1997).  KAUFMAN at 

Table 3 lists the universe of incidences of aplastic anemia studied.  Table 3 

shows that there was no information on whether or not patient #15 was 

taking other epilepsy medications.  Each and every other adverse drug event, 

however, was shown to be associated with the combination of felbamate and 15 

at least one other epilepsy drug.   

 
Ewart A. SWINYARD et al., Compariative 
Anticonvulsant Activity and Neurotoxicity of 
Felbamate…, Epilepsia v. 27, pp. 27-34 (1986) 20 

17) SWINYARD actually used felbamate monotherapy.  He found that it 

works quite well.  See e.g., page 32, col. 2 (monotherapy with “felbamate 

increases seizure threshold and prevents seizure spread.”).  One of skill in 



DECLARATION – page 7 

the art would thus read SWINYARD to  teach that felbamate monotherapy is 

effective.   

18) One of skill in the art would read the animal results in SWINYARD to 

predict efficacy in humans.  This is, after all, why SWINYARD had done his 

studies; he was not searching for a drug to treat sick laboratory rats, but sick 5 

human beings.   

19) The patent owner’s attorney alleges that SWINYARD teaches away 

from the claimed invention because SWINYARD says, “Felbamate exhibits 

a somewhat more restricted range than either phenobarbitol or valproate” 

and “Felbamate is a less potent anticonvulsant agent than either phenytoin or 10 

phenobarbitol” and “Felbamate is ineffective against Bic-induced seizures” 

and that Felbamate has an inferior absorption ratio (as measured by the s.c. 

PTZ test) compared to certain prototype anticonvulsants.   

20) One of skill in the art would not, however, read these phrases in 

isolation, nor read these phrases to discourage the use of felbamate (as 15 

monotherapy or adjunct herapy).  To the contrary, one of skill would read 

these phrases in the context of the broad teachings of SWINYARD to 

indicate that felbamate is “a relatively non-toxic antiepileptic” with a 

“unique spectrum of antiepileptic activity.”  which, as with all drugs, differs 

from other drugs in toxicity, potency, absorption, and the like.  Such 20 
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differences do not discourage the use of felbamate (alone nor as adjunct 

therapy); rather, these differences simply inform more fully the appropriate 

clinical circumstances for felbamate use.   

21) One of skill in the art would read the animal results in BERGER to 

predict efficacy in humans.  This is, after all, why BERGER had done his 5 

studies; he was not searching for a drug to treat sick laboratory rats, but sick 

human beings.  Similarly, BERGER uses electroshock induced seizures; one 

of skill in the art would infer that epileptic seizures in humans would likely 

react similarly to felbamate treatment.  This is indeed why from BERGER 

used electroshock seizures in laboratory mice in the first place; BERGER 10 

was investigating a treatment for human epilepsy, not electroshock-induced 

seizures in mice; if electroshock seizures in mice were not predictive of 

epileptic seizures in humans, then BERGER would not have used that model.  

 
The Patents In Suit 15 

22) The patents in suit do not reasonably communicate to one of skill in 

the art that the invention at issue involves monotherapy.   

23) The particular form of oral dosage, whether tablet or gelatin capsule 

or liquid, does not appear to materially affect the basic and novel anti-

epileptic characteristics of felbamate.  To the contrary, commercially-20 
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available Felbatol® felbamate is available in both liquid and solid dosage 

forms, and both provide antiepileptic activity.   

24) I hereby further declare that all statements made herein of my own 

knowledge are true and that all statements made on information and belief 

are believed to be true; and further that these statements were made with the 5 

knowledge that willful false statements and the like so made are punishable 

by fine or imprisonment or both, under Section 1001 of Title 18 of the 

United State Code, and that such willful false statements may jeopardize the 

validity of the application, any patent issuing thereon or any patent to which 

this verified statement is directed. 10 

 
 
 
______________________________ 
Walter E. KOZACHUK, M.D. 15 
Kensington, Maryland 
Dated as of 20 February 2007 
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UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS

August Term, 1997

(Argued: October 20, 1997 Decided:July 13, 1998)

Docket No. 97-7345
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In re CARTER-WALLACE, INC. SECURITIES LITIGATION.

JOAN T. BRUNJES, on behalf of herself and all others similarly 
situated, 

Plaintiff-Appellant,

EUGENE HONEYMAN, individually and on behalf of all others 
similarly situated, 

Consolidated Plaintiff-Appellant,

 

v.

HENRY H. HOYT, JR., DANIEL J. BLACK, PAUL A. VETERI and CARTER-WALLACE,
INC., 

Defendants-Appellees,

JOSEPH S. HARUN, 
Consolidated-Defendant-Appellee.

-----------------------------------------------------------------

B e f o r e: WINTER, Chief Judge, MESKILL, Circuit Judge,

and MARTIN, District Judge.*

Appeal from the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York (Kevin T. Duffy, Judge), 
which dismissed this securities-fraud action pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6). The court held that, as a matter of law,
technical and detailed advertisements for drugs in sophisticated medical journals are not made "in connection 
with" a securities transaction as required by Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act. It also held that other 
statements and omissions alleged in appellants' complaint were not materially misleading. We hold that 
advertisements in sophisticated medical journals may be "in connection with" a securities transaction and 
reverse on this narrow ground. Otherwise, we affirm.

ROBERT P. SUGARMAN, Milberg, Weiss, Bershad, Hynes & Lerach, LLP, New York, 
New York (Ralph M. Stone, Milberg, Weiss, Bershad, Hynes & Lerach, LLP, New York, 
New York, Richard J. Kilsheimer, Frederic S. Fox and Joel B. Strauss, Kaplan, Kilsheimer & 
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Fox, LLP, New York, New York, Jules Brody, Stull, Stull & Brody, New York, New York,
Joseph H. Weiss, Weiss & Yourman, New York, New York, of counsel), for 
Plaintiffs-Appellants.

ERIC M. NELSON, Whitman, Breed, Abbott & Morgan, New York, New York, for
Defendants-Appellees.

 

WINTER, Chief Judge:

Joan T. Brunjes and Eugene Honeyman appeal from Judge Duffy's dismissal pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 
12(b)(6) of their securities-fraud action. Their complaint alleged that Carter-Wallace, Inc. violated Section 
10(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, 15 U.S.C. § 78j(b), and Rule 10b-5, 17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5
(1971), by: (i) making materially false statements in the advertisements it ran in two medical journals, 
Neurology and Archives of Neurology, (ii) failing to disclose information that would correct misleading 
representations in its financial statements, and (iii) violating Generally Accepted Accounting Principles 
("GAAP"). The district court held that, as a matter of law, Carter-Wallace's advertisements in medical 
journals were not made "in connection with" a securities transaction and that the other omissions and 
statements identified in the complaint were not materially misleading. We do not agree that detailed drug 
advertisements in sophisticated medical journals can, as a matter of law, never be statements made "in 
connection with" a securities transaction. We affirm the dismissal of appellants' other claims.

BACKGROUND

We of course accept the allegations of the complaint as true. See Jaghory v. New York State Dept. of 
Educ., 131 F.3d 326, 329 (2d Cir. 1997). In July 1993, Felbatol, a new anti-epileptic drug produced by 
Carter-Wallace was approved by the Food and Drug Administration ("FDA") for sale as prescription 
medication. In August 1993, Carter-Wallace commenced selling Felbatol, hailing it as the first major 
anti-epileptic drug to be introduced in the United States in over fifteen years. 

To promote Felbatol, Carter-Wallace ran a sixteen-page advertisement in the January 1994 issue of 
Neurology. The advertisement recited Felbatol's safety record and stated that "no life-threatening liver 
toxicities or blood dyscrasias have been attributed to Felbatol monotherapy." An identical advertisement 
appeared in the January 1994 issue of Archives of Neurology. Five-page advertisements containing the same 
statement appeared in the February, March, April, May, June, and July 1994 issues of Neurology and 
Archives of Neurology. 

During this period, Carter-Wallace issued other statements that are the subject of appellants' complaint. 
Specifically, in June 1994, Carter-Wallace filed with the Securities Exchange Commission a Form 10-K in 
which it stated, pursuant to Section 13(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, 15 U.S.C. § 78m(a), that
its sales were higher as a result of "greater than planned introductory sales of Felbatol." In its annual "Report 
to Shareholders," included in the Form 10-K, Carter-Wallace also represented that "Felbatol sales have 
exceeded expectations," that "[t]his rate of growth is expected to continue," and that the company expected 
"to receive royalties, which could be significant" from licensing Felbatol.

The present action concerns information received by Carter-Wallace in 1994 indicating that Felbatol caused, 
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in some patients, a fatal form of acquired bone-marrow failure known as aplastic anemia. Carter-Wallace 
received the first report of a Felbatol-related aplastic-anemia death in January 1994. A report of another 
such death was received in March and reports of two deaths were received in each of April and May. On 
August 1, 1994, after four additional deaths were reported in July -- amounting to a total of ten deaths -- 
Carter-Wallace and the FDA issued a "Dear Doctors" letter, recommending that most patients be withdrawn 
from Felbatol treatment. 

Appellants purchased shares of Carter-Wallace stock in June and July 1994. They allege that 
Carter-Wallace's advertisements in the medical journals were false and that its statements regarding Felbatol 
in the Form 10-K were misleading in the absence of disclosure of the reports of death due to aplastic anemia.
They further allege that the advertisements and the Form 10-K misled the market and distorted the price of 
Carter-Wallace stock, thereby violating Section 10(b). In addition, appellants contend that Carter-Wallace 
violated GAAP, and, in turn, Section 10(b) by overstating the value of its Felbatol inventory when it knew the
drug would not be commercially viable. 

The district court dismissed the complaint under Rule 12(b)(6). With respect to appellants' claims based on 
the advertisements in the medical journals, the district court found that the advertisements in stating that no 
reports of life-threatening effects had been received were false. See In re Carter-Wallace Sec. Litig., No. 94 
Civ. 5704 (S.D.N.Y. Feb. 11, 1997). Nevertheless, it held that the advertisements were not actionable 
under Section 10(b) because, as a matter of law, drug advertisements in medical journals "[a]re not made in 
connection with the purchase or sale of securities, but [a]re directed at a technical audience intimately familiar 
with the potential adverse side effects of new drugs." Id. With regard to appellants' other claims, the district 
court held that Carter-Wallace's representations in its Form 10-K and "Report to Shareholders" did not 
place the company under a duty to disclose prior to August 1, 1994, the Felbatol-associated deaths, because
the company "justifiably went about accumulating more evidence regarding the possible adverse side effects 
in order to dissect the merits of the incoming reports." Id. 

DISCUSSION

We review de novo a district court's dismissal of a complaint pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6). See Harsco Corp. v.
Segui, 91 F.3d 337, 341 (2d Cir. 1996). To state a claim under Section 10(b), "a plaintiff must plead that 'in 
connection with the purchase or sale of securities, the defendant, acting with scienter, made a false material 
representation or omitted to disclose material information and that plaintiff's reliance on defendant's action 
caused [plaintiff] injury.'" In re Time Warner Inc. Sec. Litig., 9 F.3d 259, 264 (2d Cir. 1993) (quoting Bloor 
v. Carro, Spanbock, Londin, Rodman & Fass, 754 F.2d 57, 61 (2d Cir. 1985)). We turn now to the 
disputed issues concerning the advertisement in the medical journals and the statements in Carter-Wallace's 
Form 10-K. 

A. The Advertisements in Medical Journals

The crux of this issue involves whether Carter-Wallace's Felbatol advertisements may constitute statements 
made "in connection with" a securities transaction, as required by Section 10(b). Appellants' precise 
allegation is that Carter-Wallace's false advertisements in Neurology and Archives of Neurology "had an 
impact on the market price of Carter-Wallace common stock."

We have broadly construed the phrase "in connection with," holding that Congress, in using the phrase 
"intended only that the device employed, whatever it might be, be of a sort that would cause reasonable 
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investors to rely thereon, and, in connection therewith, so relying, cause them to purchase or sell a 
corporation's securities," SEC v. Texas Gulf Sulphur Co., 401 F.2d 833, 860 (2d Cir. 1968) (en banc) 
("TGS"); see also In re Ames Dep't Stores Inc. Stock Litig., 991 F.2d 953, 965 (2d Cir. 1993). Moreover, 
when, as here, a claim is based on the fraud-on-the-market theory, a "straightforward cause and effect" test is
applied, In re Ames, 991 F.2d at 967, under which it is sufficient that "statements which manipulate the 
market are connected to resultant stock trading." Id. at 966. 

Under the "cause and effect" test, we cannot say that, as a matter of law, detailed drug advertisements using 
technical jargon and published in sophisticated medical journals can never constitute statements made "in 
connection with" a securities transaction. As the Supreme Court has noted, "market professionals generally 
consider most publicly announced material statements about companies, thereby affecting stock market 
prices." Basic Inc. v. Levinson, 485 U.S. 224, 247 n.24 (1988). Technical advertisements in sophisticated 
medical journals detailing the attributes of a new drug could be highly relevant to analysts evaluating the stock 
of the company marketing the drug. See In re Time Warner, 9 F.3d at 265 (discussing analysts' use of 
information). 

That the market can absorb technical medical information is neither novel nor surprising. See Wielgos v. 
Commonwealth Edison Co., 892 F.2d 509, 514-15 (7th Cir. 1989) (finding generally that market absorbs 
complex scientific data). Technical information about the medical efficacy of new drugs, whether found in 
advertisements or elsewhere, has an obvious bearing on the financial future of a drug company. In an 
economy that produces highly sophisticated products, technical information is of enormous importance to 
financial analysts, whether such companies are producing drugs, as here, or nuclear power plants, as in 
Weiglos. The fact that such information is found in a specialized medical journal, as here, rather than in a 
statement addressed to participants in financial markets, as in TGS, seems to us irrelevant, so long as the 
journals are used by analysts studying the prospects of drug companies. In fact, an analyst might consider 
such an advertisement more informative than a non-technical but corresponding statement to financial market 
professionals.

We are aware that Ross v. A. H. Robins Company, [1978 Transfer Binder] Fed. Sec. L. Rep. (CCH) ¶
96,388 (S.D.N.Y. April 6, 1978), held that false product advertisements in medical journals are not 
actionable under Section 10(b). However, Ross pre-dated Basic Incorporated supra, and considered only 
the nexus between advertisements and individual investments; it did not consider the fraud-on-the-market 
theory, which provides a broader framework in which to analyze the "in connection with" requirement. See In 
re Ames, 991 F.2d at 967. 

We hold, therefore, that false advertisements in technical journals may be "in connection with" a securities 
transaction if the proof at trial establishes that the advertisements were used by market professionals in 
evaluating the stock of the company. We leave it to the district court on remand to decide whether the 
appellants' complaint with respect to the advertisements sufficiently alleges the other elements of a Section 
10(b) claim.

B. Carter-Wallace's Financial Statements

Appellants also argue that the district court's dismissal of their remaining claims was improper. In particular, 
appellants maintain that Carter-Wallace had a duty to disclose before August 1, 1994 the Felbatol-related 
deaths having reported in its Form 10-K an increase in sales attributable to Felbatol, significant royalties from
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licensing the drug, and the expectation of increased Felbatol sales in the future.

We disagree that Carter-Wallace had a duty under Section 10(b) to disclose the Felbatol-related deaths 
prior to August 1, 1994. The statements in Carter-Wallace's Form 10-K and its "Report to Shareholders" 
did not become materially misleading until Carter-Wallace had information that Felbatol had caused a 
statistically significant number of aplastic-anemia deaths and therefore had reason to believe that the 
commercial viability of Felbatol was threatened. Cf. San Leandro Emergency Med. Group Profit Sharing 
Plan v. Philip Morris Cos., 75 F.3d 801, 811 (2d Cir. 1996). Drug companies need not disclose isolated 
reports of illnesses suffered by users of their drugs until those reports provide statistically significant evidence 
that the ill effects may be caused by -- rather than randomly associated with -- use of the drugs and are 
sufficiently serious and frequent to affect future earnings. In the present case, four of the ten reported deaths 
occurred in July -- the disclosure was on August 1 -- and the earlier reports are not by themselves sufficient 
to support inferences of either actual knowledge or recklessness. See Chill v. General Elec. Co., 101 F.3d 
263, 269 (2d Cir. 1996) (stating that reckless conduct is "conduct which is highly unreasonable and which 
represents an extreme departure from the standards of ordinary care"). We therefore affirm the district court's
dismissal of the appellants' claims based on these statements.

Finally, appellants allege that Carter-Wallace's financial statements violated GAAP by overstating the value of
Carter-Wallace's inventory. Specifically, appellants allege that Carter-Wallace should have discounted the 
value of its Felbatol inventory "given its obviously impaired value." However, one cannot state a claim for 
securities fraud merely by alleging a GAAP violation; the allegation must be accompanied by a statement of 
fraudulent intent. See Chill, 101 F.3d at 270. In this case, no such intent can be inferred because, for the 
reasons stated above, Carter-Wallace had no sound reason to doubt the commercial viability of Felbatol or 
the value of its inventory until the reports of Felbatol-associated deaths became statistically significant. 

CONCLUSION

In conclusion, we reverse the holding that technical drug advertisements in sophisticated medical journals 
cannot, as a matter of law, be "in connection with" a securities transaction. Otherwise, we affirm.

 

 

FOOTNOTE

* The Honorable John S. Martin, Jr., of the United States District Court for the Southern District of New 
York, sitting by designation.

Copyright © 1998 by The Bureau of National Affairs, Inc., Washington D.C.
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The United States District Court for the Southern District of New York, Duffy, J., held that the complaint 
failed to allege scienter.

Affirmed.

RICHARD J. KILSHEIMER, New York City (Frederic S. Fox, Joel B. Strauss, 
Kaplan, Kilsheimer & Fox, New York City),

David J. Bershad, William C. Fredericks, Milberg Weiss Bershad Hynes & 
Lerach, New York City,

Co-Lead Counsel for Appellants.

Joseph H. Weiss, Weiss & Yourman, New York City,

Jules Brody, Stull, Stull & Brody, New York City,

for Appellants.

ERIC M. NELSON, New York City (Matthew D. Griffin, Whitman Breed Abbott & 
Morgan, New York City, of counsel),

for Appellees.

MESKILL, Circuit Judge:

Appellants Joan T. Brunjes and Eugene Honeyman, co-lead plaintiffs in this securities fraud class action,
appeal the dismissal of their claim pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(c). See In re Carter-Wallace, Inc. Sec. 
Litig., No. 94 Civ. 5704, 1999 WL 1029713, at *3-6 (S.D.N.Y. Nov. 10, 1999). The appellants alleged that
defendants-appellees Carter-Wallace, Inc., and members of its Board of Directors (collectively
"Carter-Wallace") violated Section 10(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, 15 U.S.C. § 78j(b), and
Rule 10b-5, 17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5, by running advertisements in medical journals stating that Carter-
Wallace's new epilepsy drug, Felbatol, had an "unprecedented safety profile" and that "no life-threatening liver
toxicities or blood dyscrasias have been attributed to Felbatol monotherapy," even though Carter-Wallace was
aware of medical reports that some patients using Felbatol had developed severe or fatal illnesses. On remand
from an earlier appeal, In re Carter-Wallace, Inc. Sec. Litig., 150 F.3d 153 (2d Cir. 1998) (Carter-Wallace 
I), the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York, Duffy, J., granted Carter- Wallace's
motion to dismiss on the ground that the appellants failed to allege scienter. We agree and affirm the decision
of the district court.

BACKGROUND

On a motion to dismiss, we accept the factual allegations contained in the complaint as true. See Jaghory v. 
New York State Dep't of Educ., 131 F.3d 326, 329 (2d Cir. 1997). In July 1993, Carter-Wallace's new
epilepsy drug, Felbatol, was approved for sale by the Food and Drug Administration (FDA). At the time,
Felbatol was considered a major advance in epilepsy treatment. It was thought to be unburdened by the risk of
serious side effects, which plagued other epilepsy drugs. To promote Felbatol, Carter-Wallace ran
advertisements in medical journals. A sixteen page advertisement appeared in the January 1994 issues of
Neurology and Archives of Neurology. The advertisement stated that Felbatol had an "unprecedented safety
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profile" and that "no life-threatening liver toxicities or blood dyscrasias have been attributed to Felbatol
monotherapy." The same statements were made in shorter advertisements running monthly in the same journals
through July 1994.

Prior to and during the publication of the advertisements, Carter-Wallace learned that some patients taking
Felbatol were developing illnesses. Pursuant to FDA regulation, drug manufacturers must relay to the FDA
reports from doctors describing illnesses developed by patients using the manufacturer's product, regardless of
whether there is a known or perceived causal connection between the drug and the illness. See 21 C.F.R. §
314.80 (1999). Among the most serious illnesses reported to Carter-Wallace was aplastic anemia, a
frequently fatal form of acquired bone marrow failure. According to the complaint, from October 1993 until
July 1994, Carter-Wallace received and was aware of at least fifty- seven adverse medical reports relating to
Felbatol, including at least six deaths and six cases of aplastic anemia. In July 1994, Carter-Wallace received
four additional reports of aplastic anemia, along with reports of other illnesses and deaths. On August 1, 1994,
Carter-Wallace, in association with the FDA, sent a letter to doctors warning of an association between
Felbatol and aplastic anemia. The letter recommended the immediate withdrawal of patients from treatment
with Felbatol. That day, following disclosure of the letter, Carter-Wallace's common stock fell $4.875 per
share, almost 33 percent, from $15.625 to $10.75 on heavy trading.

Shortly after the plunge in Carter-Wallace's stock price, two class actions were filed with Joan T. Brunjes and
Eugene Honeyman serving as lead plaintiffs of classes of investors who bought stock during a period beginning
January 20, 1994 and ending July 31, 1994. The class actions were consolidated into the present suit. The
second amended class action complaint alleged three claims: (1) that the advertisements in the medical journals
were materially false and misleading, (2) that Carter-Wallace failed to disclose information (the adverse
medical reports) that made representations in its financial statements misleading, and (3) that Carter-Wallace
violated Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP) by overvaluing its inventory of Felbatol when it
allegedly knew that Felbatol would not be commercially viable. Carter-Wallace moved for dismissal pursuant
to Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6). The district court found that the advertisements in the medical journals were not
made "in connection with" the purchase or sale of securities. The district court dismissed the other claims as
well, reasoning that Carter-Wallace was under no duty to disclose the adverse reports or re- value its
inventory because prior to August 1, 1994 there was no statistically significant link between Felbatol and any
side effect. On appeal, we affirmed the district court's dismissal of the financial statements claim and the GAAP
claim. With respect to the medical advertisement claim, however, we disagreed with the district court's
determination that advertisements in medical journals could not, as a matter of law, be made "in connection
with" a securities transaction. We remanded to the district court to determine, in the first instance, "whether the
appellants' complaint with respect to the advertisements sufficiently alleges the other elements of a Section
10(b) claim." Carter- Wallace I, 150 F.3d at 157.

On remand, Carter-Wallace moved for judgment on the pleadings on the ground that the complaint had failed
to allege scienter. The district court agreed and dismissed the claim.

DISCUSSION

A district court's grant of judgment on the pleadings is reviewed de novo. See Williams v. Apfel, 204 F.3d 48, 
49 (2d Cir. 2000). The standards governing this case are not disputed by the parties.1 "[A] plaintiff must plead 
that `in connection with the purchase or sale of securities, the defendant, acting with scienter, made a false
material representation or omitted to disclose material information and that plaintiff's reliance on defendant's
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action caused [plaintiff] injury.'" In re Time Warner Inc. Sec. Litig., 9 F.3d 259, 264 (2d Cir. 1993) (quoting
Bloor v. Carro, Spanbock, Londin, Rodman & Fass, 754 F.2d 57, 61 (2d Cir. 1985)) (second alteration in
original). "The scienter needed in connection with securities fraud is intent `to deceive, manipulate, or defraud,'
or knowing misconduct." Press v. Chemical Inv. Servs. Corp., 166 F.3d 529, 538 (2d Cir. 1999) (quoting
SEC v. First Jersey Sec., 101 F.3d 1450, 1467 (2d Cir. 1996)). For purposes of its motion, Carter-Wallace
has conceded all of the elements of the appellants' claim except scienter. Thus, the sole issue on appeal is
whether the complaint sufficiently alleges scienter. For the reasons that follow, we conclude that it does not.

Fed. R. Civ. P. 9(b) requires that allegations of fraud be pled with specificity. Although Rule 9(b) raises the
pleading standard in fraud cases, it provides that "[m]alice, intent, knowledge, and other condition of mind of a
person may be averred generally." However, "the relaxation of Rule 9(b)'s specificity requirement for scienter
must not be mistaken for license to base claims of fraud on speculation and conclusory allegations." Shields v. 
Citytrust Bancorp, 25 F.3d 1124, 1128 (2d Cir. 1994) (internal quotation marks omitted). In order to plead
scienter, we require the complaint "to allege facts that give rise to a strong inference of fraudulent intent." Id.; 
see also Mills v. Polar Molecular Corp., 12 F.3d 1170, 1176 (2d Cir. 1993). A "strong inference of
fraudulent intent" may be established either "(a) by alleging facts to show that defendants had both motive and
opportunity to commit fraud, or (b) by alleging facts that constitute strong circumstantial evidence of conscious
misbehavior or recklessness." Shields, 25 F.3d at 1128 (citing In re Time Warner, 9 F.3d at 268-69).

The appellants argued both the "conscious misbehavior" and "motive and opportunity" theories before the
district court. On appeal, they have abandoned the "motive and opportunity" theory. To survive dismissal
under the "conscious misbehavior" theory, the appellants must show that they alleged reckless conduct by the
appellees, which is "at the least, conduct which is highly unreasonable and which represents an extreme
departure from the standards of ordinary care to the extent that the danger was either known to the defendant
or so obvious that the defendant must have been aware of it." Rolf v. Blyth, Eastman Dillon & Co., 570 F.2d
38, 47 (2d Cir. 1978) (internal quotation marks and alterations omitted). "An egregious refusal to see the
obvious, or to investigate the doubtful, may in some cases give rise to an inference of recklessness." Chill v.
General Elec. Co., 101 F.3d 263, 269 (2d Cir. 1996) (internal quotation marks and alterations omitted). It is
sufficient for appellants to allege "defendants' knowledge of facts or access to information contradicting their
public statements." Novak v. Kasaks, 2000 WL 796300, at *7 (2d Cir. 2000).

Appellants' theory of "conscious misbehavior" is based solely on the allegation that Carter-Wallace touted
Felbatol's safety while it was receiving adverse medical reports. They argue that Carter-Wallace was
recklessly, if not intentionally, perpetrating fraud by allowing the advertisements to continue when it was aware
of reports that undermined the accuracy of the advertisements. Fatal to their argument, however, is our
determination in Carter-Wallace I that the medical reports did not demonstrate a statistically significant link
between Felbatol and any illness until August 1, 1994, when Carter-Wallace recommended the withdrawal of
patients from Felbatol treatment.

In holding that Carter-Wallace had no duty to disclose the Felbatol-related deaths prior to August 1, 1994, we
reasoned that the financial statements

did not become materially misleading until Carter-Wallace had information 
that Felbatol had caused a statistically significant number of 
aplastic-anemia deaths and therefore had reason to believe that the 
commercial viability of Felbatol was threatened. Drug companies need not 
disclose isolated reports of illnesses suffered by users of their drugs 
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until those reports provide statistically significant evidence that the 
ill effects may be caused by -- rather than randomly associated with -- 
use of the drugs and are sufficiently serious and frequent to affect 
future earnings. In the present case, . . . the [pre-July 1994] reports
are not by themselves sufficient to support inferences of either actual
knowledge or recklessness.

Carter-Wallace I, 150 F.3d at 157 (citations omitted) (emphasis added). Our determination that the reports of
aplastic anemia were not statistically significant prior to August 1, 1994 is the law of this case and we will
adhere to it, "absent cogent or compelling reasons." Doe v. New York City Dep't of Soc. Servs., 709 F.2d 
782, 789 (2d Cir. 1983) (internal quotation marks omitted); see also United States v. Adegbite, 877 F.2d 
174, 178 (2d Cir. 1989) ("[W]e will generally adhere to our own earlier decision on a given issue in the same
litigation."). As discussed below, we do not find any compelling reason for deviating from our prior conclusion.

The appellants argue that their complaint alleges that the causal connection between Felbatol and aplastic
anemia was made before August 1, 1994. However, "conclusory allegations" do not satisfy the pleading
requirements of Rule 9(b). See Acito v. Imcera Group, 47 F.3d 47, 53 (2d Cir. 1995). The appellants must
provide "at least a minimal factual basis" for their allegations of scienter. Chill, 101 F.3d at 267 (internal 
quotation marks omitted). The complaint describes the adverse reports received by Carter-Wallace and
concludes that the "adverse effects from Felbatol were extremely serious and the number of incidents was . . .
statistically unacceptable." This allegation is based, like much of the appellants' arguments, on the sheer number
of adverse reports -- 57 before July 1994.

We do not believe that the existence or the number of such reports is problematic. FDA regulations require
that all "adverse drug experience information" be reported to the FDA. 21 C.F.R. § 314.80(c) (1999). Drug
manufacturers receive these reports from several sources, including treating physicians. An "adverse drug
experience" is defined broadly to include "[a]ny adverse event associated with the use of a drug in humans,
whether or not considered drug related." 21 C.F.R. § 314.80(a) (1999) (emphasis added); see also 21 
C.F.R. § 314.80(k) (1999) ("A report or information submitted by an applicant under this section . . . does
not necessarily reflect a conclusion by the applicant or FDA that the report or information constitutes an
admission that the drug caused or contributed to an adverse effect."). Carter-Wallace received reports when
patients on Felbatol became ill, regardless of whether or not the illness had anything to do with Felbatol.
Contrary to the appellants' assertions throughout their complaint, the receipt of an adverse report does not in
and of itself show a causal relationship between Felbatol and the illness mentioned in the report. On this
record, the only illness eventually attributed to Felbatol was aplastic anemia. The other illnesses, although
serious and even fatal in some instances, were never linked to Felbatol. Therefore, it was not reckless for
Carter-Wallace to believe that these reports were random and statistically insignificant before August 1, 1994.
The eventual linking of aplastic anemia to Felbatol cannot relate back to the time of the statements in the
medical journals and reflect on Carter-Wallace's reasonable belief that the reports were random. Felbatol was
a popular drug. Some adverse events may be expected to occur randomly, especially with a drug designed to
treat people that are already ill. Carter-Wallace's actual awareness of adverse reports while touting Felbatol's
safety does not, on its own, constitute "strong circumstantial evidence of conscious misbehavior or
recklessness." The advertisements never guaranteed a total absence of unrelated illnesses. The appellants'
pleading arguments, based on the same complaint we reviewed in Carter-Wallace I, are unpersuasive in 
altering our earlier opinion that the link between aplastic anemia and Felbatol was not made before August 1,
1994.
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The appellants argue that our reversal of the dismissal of the medical advertisement claim in Carter-Wallace I
supports their position. However, the portion of Carter-Wallace I dealing with the medical advertisements was 
limited to the proposition that, as a matter of law, these statements could be made "in connection with" a
securities transaction. We remanded in order to develop the record, which in no way reflected on whether we
believed the appellants had adequately pled the scienter element of their claim. See Carter-Wallace I, 150
F.3d at 156-57.

We are also unpersuaded by the appellants' argument that Carter-Wallace I can be distinguished on the
ground that it concerned omissions, while the medical journal advertisements were affirmative statements.
Actually, the GAAP claim involved an affirmative statement, namely, an overstatement of inventory, not an
omission. Our reasoning in Carter-Wallace I applies with equal force here. There, we held that the adverse
reports did not need to be disclosed in order to correct the financial statements because, until August 1, 1994,
it was not reckless for Carter-Wallace to consider the adverse reports to be random. Not only were the
financial statements not materially misleading before the link could be made, but any inference of scienter was
negated as well. As we explained in affirming the dismissal of the GAAP claim, "no such intent can be inferred
because . . . Carter-Wallace had no sound reason to doubt the commercial viability of Felbatol or the value of
its inventory until the reports of Felbatol-associated deaths became statistically significant." Id. at 157.
Contrary to the appellants' argument, this reasoning is not distinguishable on the ground that it involved
Felbatol's commercial viability because Felbatol's commercial success was directly tied to its safety. We do
not see any basis for distinguishing Carter-Wallace I or deviating from our conclusion that, before August 1,
1994, the connection between Felbatol and aplastic anemia was not statistically significant.

The appellants rely on Cosmas v. Hassett, 886 F.2d 8 (2d Cir. 1989), to argue that they have sufficiently pled
scienter. Cosmas is readily distinguishable. In Cosmas, the defendants represented that sales to China would 
be "an important new source of revenue" even though import restrictions, of which the defendants were
presumably aware, belied the statement. Id. at 10, 12-13. Here, by contrast, there can be no presumption that
Carter-Wallace was aware of a statistically significant connection between Felbatol and aplastic anemia before
August 1, 1994. This case is closer to Shields. In Shields, we explained that, even if the defendants turned out
to be wrong about predicted financial performance, "misguided optimism is not a cause of action, and does not
support an inference of fraud." Shields, 25 F.3d at 1129. We held that "nothing alleged indicates that
management was promoting a fraud. People in charge of an enterprise are not required to take a gloomy,
fearful or defeatist view of the future." Id.; see also Chill, 101 F.3d at 268-71 (dismissing the plaintiffs'
allegations that the defendant failed to heed "red warning flags" that signaled the defendant's subsidiary's
falsification of profits). Here, the early medical reports may have indicated a potential problem, but until a
connection between Felbatol and any illness could be made, we would not expect Carter-Wallace to abandon
its product on what, at the time, would have been speculation. The complaint here cannot support an inference
that Carter-Wallace turned a blind eye to the reports of adverse side effects. There is no indication that
Carter- Wallace knew, or should have known, of the connection between Felbatol and aplastic anemia before
August 1, 1994. Although this connection was subsequently made, the allegations do not support the inference
that Carter-Wallace was reckless in failing to have made it earlier.

Because there was no statistical link between Felbatol and any adverse side effect before August 1, 1994, the
pleadings do not "give rise to a strong inference of fraudulent intent." As argued by Carter-Wallace, the
pleadings represent an impermissible attempt to plead "fraud by hindsight." Denny v. Barber, 576 F.2d 465, 
470 (2d Cir. 1978). While it may now seem clear that Felbatol was not as safe as advertised, at the time the
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advertisements ran, it was not reckless for Carter-Wallace to believe the assertions to be true. Indeed, before
August 1, 1994, no adverse side effect had been attributed to Felbatol. Carter-Wallace's awareness of
medical reports that could have been random cannot lead to the conclusion that Carter-Wallace was reckless
in permitting the advertisements to continue. Felbatol had, after all, survived the extensive testing process
required by the FDA. See generally 21 C.F.R. §§ 312, 314 (1999). Carter-Wallace acted reasonably once
the linkage was established between aplastic anemia and Felbatol. Immediately after receiving four adverse
reports of aplastic anemia in July 1994, Carter-Wallace, in conjunction with the FDA, recommended the
withdrawal of patients from Felbatol. We are satisfied that the pleadings do not allege scienter as required to
survive this motion for judgment on the pleadings. Carter-Wallace's actions -- touting Felbatol's safety in
medical journals in light of what were then random adverse medical reports -- did not constitute recklessness.

Finally, the appellants argue that the district court impermissibly made findings of fact, requiring reversal. We
do not believe that the district court's discussion of the involvement of the FDA in the development and
regulation of Felbatol, to the extent it involved disputed factual assumptions, contributed to its decision. In any
event, we have reached the same conclusion on de novo review and do not believe that reversal is warranted.

CONCLUSION

Because the appellants have failed adequately to plead reckless behavior on Carter-Wallace's part, they have
failed to allege scienter. The district court correctly granted Carter-Wallace's motion for judgment on the
pleadings pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(c) and its decision is affirmed.

FOOTNOTES

--------------
[*]

Honorable Charles H. Haden II, Chief Judge of the United States District 
Court for the Southern District of West Virginia, sitting by designation.

--------------
[1]

As this case was filed in August 1994, it is not subject to the Private 
Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995.

-1-
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[14] Opinion by Judge Schroeder 

[15] OPINION 

[16] SCHROEDER, Circuit Judge: 

[17] This is an interlocutory appeal from a district court order under Fed. R. Civ. P. 23 conditionally certifying a nationwide plaintiff 
class and subclass in a products liability case against the manufacturer of a drug used for the treatment of epilepsy. The jurisdiction of 
the district court was grounded on diversity, and our jurisdiction is pursuant to certification under 28 U.S.C. 1292(b).

[18] The drug in question, known as Felbatol, is manufactured by defendants Carter-Wallace, Inc. and Wallace Laboratories 
(Carter-Wallace). Carter-Wallace began marketing the drug in August 1993 without giving any special warning of serious side effects. 
Between January 1994 and July 1994, Carter-Wallace received reports that some patients had developed aplastic anemia following use 
of the drug.*fn1 In August 1994, Carter-Wallace mailed letters to the physician community warning them of this risk. By September 
1994, Carter-Wallace had also received reports of liver failure in connection with use of the drug. Again, Carter-Wallace mailed letters 
to the physician community warning them of this risk. 

[19] The district court determined that the prerequisites of Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(a) had been met.*fn2 The district court conditionally 
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certified a plaintiff class consisting of "all persons who began using Felbatol prior to August 1, 1994." The district court also certified a
"serious injury" subclass, defined as "all persons within the Felbatol user class who have developed or will develop aplastic anemia or 
liver failure, as a result of using Felbatol." 

[20] Pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(c)(4)(A), the district court limited class certification to the issues of strict liability, negligence, 
failure to warn, breach of implied and express warranty, causation in fact, and liability for punitive damages. The district court stated 
that "[w]ith respect to these particular issues, common questions of law and/or fact predominate over any questions affecting only 
individual members and a class action is superior to other available methods for adjudication of the controversy." The court's order thus 
echoed the preponderance and superiority requirements of Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(b)(3).*fn3 The court specifically excluded the individual 
issues of proximate causation, compensatory damages, and the amount of punitive damages from certification. 

[21] In its certification order, the court did not discuss whether the adjudication of the certified issues would significantly advance the 
resolution of the underlying case, thereby achieving judicial economy and efficiency. Nor did the court discuss any alternative methods 
for adjudicating these claims. 

[22] According to the named plaintiffs, during the brief period involved in this litigation the drug was prescribed to over 100,000 
patients, who were told that the drug was unlike other anti-epilepsy drugs in that this one had few adverse side effects. Plaintiffs claim 
that over 3,000 people have reported some adverse reactions from the drug to the United States Food & Drug Administration, and 
there have been over seventy reported cases of aplastic anemia or liver damage, including nearly twenty reported deaths. Withdrawal 
from the drug has also been difficult for many patients. 

[23] Plaintiffs contend, with considerable justification, that because the case involves only one manufacturer, only one product, only 
one marketing program, and a relatively short period of time, the case is more manageable for class action purposes than cases that 
involve multiple manufacturers, multiple products, multiple marketing programs, and a long period of time. It appears undisputed that 
the claims of all members of the class will raise some common issues concerning the knowledge and conduct of Carter-Wallace. 
Apparently, in recognition of these common issues, the Judicial Panel on Multidistrict Litigation (JPML) has consolidated pretrial 
proceedings in all federal Felbatol cases and transferred them to the Northern District of California. 

[24] Carter-Wallace argues, with at least equal justification, that the existence of common issues of law or fact is a necessary but not 
the sole requirement for class certification, and that the class certified here does not meet other Rule 23 requirements. Carter-Wallace 
places particular stress on the Rule 23(b)(3) requirements that the common issues of fact predominate over individual issues and that 
the class action be superior to other methods of adjudicating the claims. Specifically, Carter-Wallace contends that the numerous 
adverse reactions of each plaintiff are intertwined with the certified liability issues, and that the law on each liability theory varies 
widely from state to state. Additionally, Carter-Wallace notes that the problems with the numerous adverse reactions affect the Rule 
23(a) prerequisites of typicality and adequacy of representation in that the drug has had a variety of different effects on different 
people and further, that the class does not contain any representative who has allegedly developed aplastic anemia from taking the 
drug. Carter-Wallace also contends that class adjudication will be unmanageable and inefficient and that alternative, superior methods of 
adjudication exist. 

[25] [1] Carter-Wallace's threshold contention in this appeal is, however, even more sweeping. It is that, regardless of any specific 
problems with this particular certification, class certification is never appropriate for multi-state plaintiffs asserting personal injury 
claims against manufacturers of drugs and medical devices. Carter-Wallace cites this circuit's opinion in In re Northern Dist. of 
California, Dalkon Shield IUD Prods. Liab. Litig. (Dalkon Shield), 693 F.2d 847, 854-55 (9th Cir. 1982), cert. denied, 459 U.S. 1171 
(1983), and recent cases from other circuits to support its broadside attack. See, e.g., Castano v. American Tobacco Co., 84 F.3d 734 
(5th Cir. 1996); In re American Medical Sys., 75 F.3d 1069 (6th Cir. 1996); In re Rhone-Poulenc Rorer, Inc., 51 F.3d 1293 (7th Cir.), 
cert. denied, 116 S. Ct. 184 (1995). Our review of the record suggests that a principal reason why the district court entered twin 
certifications, first to create class litigation, and then to secure appellate review of that creation, was to obtain a ruling from this court 
on whether the law of this circuit supports Carter-Wallace's threshold position. 

[26] [2] We hold that the law of this circuit, and more specifically our leading decision in Dalkon Shield, does not create any absolute 
bar to the certification of a multi-state plaintiff class action in the medical products liability context. We decline to hold, at least at this 
early stage of the litigation, that there can never be a plaintiff class certification in this particular case. We do hold, however, on the 
basis of the record before us, that we must vacate this class certification order, because there has been no demonstration of how this 
class satisfies important Rule 23 requirements, including the predominance of common issues over individual issues and the superiority
of class adjudication over other litigation alternatives. 

[27] ANALYSIS 

[28] I. Class Actions in Products Liability Litigation 
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[29] The history of class action certifications and products liability cases in this circuit and elsewhere has not been luminous. Indeed 
the Advisory Committee on Civil Rules for the 1966 revision to Rule 23 cast doubt on the availability of class actions in mass tort 
cases. See Fed. R. Civ. P. 23, advisory committee's notes to 1966 amendment, Subdivision (b)(3) ("[a] `mass accident' resulting in 
injuries to numerous persons is ordinarily not appropriate for a class action"). Nevertheless, courts have generally proceeded on a 
case-by-case basis and considered the appropriateness of class action treatment under the particular circumstances presented. See 7B 
Charles Alan Wright et al., Federal Practice and Procedure: Civil 2d, 1783 at 74-75 (2d ed. 1986); see also 3 Herbert B. Newberg &
Alba Conte, Newberg on Class Actions, 17.05 (3d ed. 1992) (noting modern trend has been to expand use of class action litigation in
mass tort context). The lead decision in this circuit was handed down in 1982 and vacated a nationwide punitive damages class and a 
statewide compensatory liability class of persons who had used allegedly defective intrauterine contraceptive devices. In re Northern 
Dist. of California, Dalkon Shield IUD Prods. Liab. Litig., 693 F.2d 847 (9th Cir. 1982), cert. denied, 459 U.S. 1171 (1983). 

[30] In rejecting the nationwide class certification under Rule 23(b)(1)(B), we were clearly troubled in Dalkon Shield by the problems 
that would arise in endeavoring to apply the varying punitive damage standards of fifty different jurisdictions. We did not, however, 
hold this commonality obstacle fatal. Id. at 850. There was in Dalkon Shield the added problem that no plaintiff, and no plaintiff's 
lawyer, had agreed to represent the class so that the requirements of typicality and adequacy of representation could not be satisfied. 
Id. at 850-51. 

[31] In considering the certification of the California liability class under Rule 23(b)(3), we commented in Dalkon Shield on the 
problems presented by products liability actions where, unlike the mass tort involving a single catastrophic event such as an airplane 
crash or cruise ship food poisoning,"[n]o single happening or accident occurs to cause similar types of physical harm or property 
damage." Id. at 853. We also discussed the inherent difficulties of proving proximate cause and a breach of a duty of care under a 
negligence theory, where there are different types of injuries and multiple defendants. Id. at 854-55. We were further troubled by the 
requirement that common issues predominate over individual issues in a certification of an entire case for class treatment; it appeared 
that only the underlying facts raised a common nucleus of issues, while the liability questions included highly individualized issues of 
damages and proximate cause. Id. at 856. Finally, we held that class adjudication would not be superior to individualized litigation 
given: first, the lack of any showing that class adjudication would save time or expense, and second, the management difficulties caused 
by the complexity and multiplicity of issues as well as the plaintiffs' hostility to the class action. Id. 

[32] We were careful in Dalkon Shield, however, not to preclude the future certification of more limited classes or subclasses pursuant 
to Rule 23(b)(3), or to rule out the possibility of broader class action certification in other products liability cases. See id. at 852-54, 
856. Although Dalkon Shield pointed out many of the problems common to products liability litigation in meeting Rule 23's class 
certification requirements, we cannot conclude that Dalkon Shield creates an absolute bar to such certification in this circuit. As leading 
commentators have pointed out, the case was unusual in that there was simply no plaintiff or plaintiff's counsel ready, willing, and able 
to represent the class. See, e.g., 3 Newberg & Conte, supra, 17.12 at 17-31. In addition, Dalkon Shield involved multiple defendants
and multiple marketing schemes, unlike the present case where a single manufacturer marketed one drug over a limited period of time. 
Compare Dalkon Shield, 693 F.2d at 856 (holding district court erroneously certified class where manufacturer advertised in various 
medical journals and trade-show advertisements to different doctors), with In re Copley Pharmaceutical, 158 F.R.D. 485, 487, 491-93 
(D. Wyo. 1994) (certifying class where one manufacturer marketed four contaminated batches of one prescription drug). 

[33] The leading cases in other circuits in which class certifications have been approved are the "Agent Orange" litigation in the Second 
Circuit and the "School Asbestos" litigation in the Third Circuit. See In re Agent Orange Prods. Liab. Litig., 818 F.2d 145 (2d Cir. 
1987), cert. denied, 484 U.S. 1004 (1988); In re School Asbestos Litig., 789 F.2d 996 (3d Cir.), cert. denied, 479 U.S. 852, and cert. 
denied, 479 U.S. 915 (1986). Those cases also had some unique features. 

[34] In Agent Orange, the Second Circuit made it quite clear that the common issue in that case that caused class litigation to be both 
appropriate and superior to other forms of litigation was the common existence of a government contractor defense. [35] In our view, 
class certification was justified under Rule 23(b)(3) due to the centrality of the military contractor defense. First, this defense is 
common to all of the plaintiffs' cases, and thus satisfies the commonality requirement of Rule 23(a)(2). Second, because the military 
contractor defense is of central importance . . . this issue is governed by federal law, and a class trial in a federal court is a method of 
adjudication superior to the alternatives. If the defense succeeds, the entire litigation is disposed of. If it fails, it will not be an issue in 
the subsequent individual trials. In that event, moreover, the ground for its rejection, such as a failure to warn the government of a 
known hazard, might well be dispositive of relevant factual issues in those trials. 

[36] Agent Orange, 818 F.2d at 166-67 (citations omitted). 

[37] In School Asbestos, the plaintiffs were school districts seeking compensation for property damages, not for personal injuries. The 
Third Circuit viewed that class action as much more manageable than a personal injury case would have been because, in essence, the 
effect of asbestos in different buildings is the same and the effect of asbestos on different people is not. See School Asbestos, 789 F.2d 
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at 1010-11. 

[38] A leading decision in the Seventh Circuit has recently cast a pall on the future of class action certifications in products liability 
cases in that circuit. See In re Rhone-Poulenc Rorer, Inc., 51 F.3d 1293 (7th Cir.), cert. denied, 116 S. Ct. 184 (1995); see also Castano 
v. American Tobacco Co., 84 F.3d 734 (5th Cir. 1996) (decertifying national class of all nicotine-dependent persons, and expressing 
approval of Rhone-Poulenc). The Seventh Circuit in Rhone-Poulenc issued a writ of mandamus ordering the district court to decertify a
class of plaintiff hemophiliacs who were allegedly infected by the human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) as a result of using blood 
solids manufactured by the defendants. The Seventh Circuit majority was heavily influenced by at least three factors. 

[39] First, the majority expressed a general distaste for requiring defendants to place high economic stakes in the hands of a single jury. 
See Rhone-Poulenc, 51 F.3d at 1299. The majority also noted that there was a great likelihood that plaintiffs' legal claims lacked merit, 
given that twelve of thirteen individual suits had resulted in verdicts favorable to the defendants. See id. at 1299-1300. This concern 
does not appear to be in line with the law of this circuit that has not looked favorably upon granting extraordinary relief to vacate a 
class certification. See, e.g., Arthur Young & Co. v. United States Dist. Court, 549 F.2d 686, 698 (9th Cir.), cert. denied, 434 U.S. 829 
(1977). There is also authority disapproving a separate hearing to consider the merits of the plaintiffs' claims when determining class 
certification. See Eisen v. Carlisle & Jacquelin, 417 U.S. 156, 177-78 (1974); Blackie v. Barrack, 524 F.2d 891, 901 (9th Cir. 1975), 
cert. denied, 429 U.S. 816 (1976); see also 7B Wright et al., supra, 1785 at 125 (discussing Eisen and the Court's express rejection of a
preliminary hearing to determine the merits of the litigation). 

[40] Second, the Rhone-Poulenc majority found that the class action would require a jury to determine "the negligence of the 
defendants under a legal standard that does not actually exist anywhere in the world." Id. at 1300. The court expressed concern with 
the ability of the district court to condense the law of the fifty states and the District of Columbia into a single jury instruction on 
negligence. See id. at 1300-02. The court thus focused on the district court's decision to create a hypothetical negligence standard. The 
district court in this case did not create such a hypothetical standard. 

[41] Third, the Rhone-Poulenc court perceived Seventh Amendment problems in the district court's bifurcation of class issues from 
individual issues, such as comparative negligence and proximate causation. See id. at 1302-03. The court determined that the district 
court's plan was inconsistent with the principle that the findings of one jury are not to be reexamined by a different jury. See id. at 
1303. This constitutional concern of the Rhone-Poulenc court may not be fully in line with the law of this circuit, and constitutional 
issues were never squarely presented to the district court. See Arthur Young, 549 F.2d at 696. 

[42] We therefore do not accept Carter-Wallace's invitation in this case to adopt the principles of Rhone-Poulenc as the law of this 
circuit. 

[43] We are more sympathetic to the approach taken by the Sixth Circuit in In re American Medical Sys., 75 F.3d 1069 (6th Cir. 
1996). American Medical rejected class certification involving ten different models of penile implants that were implanted over a 
twenty-two year period. The court granted mandamus to decertify a nationwide class where the district court failed to identify 
common issues, explain why common issues predominate over individual issues, or make a finding of superiority. The court held that 
district courts must conduct a "rigorous analysis" into whether the prerequisites of Rule 23 are met before certifying a class. See id. at 
1078-79. The Sixth Circuit has also recognized, however, that in the mass tort context, class adjudication of certain issues may be more 
efficient and expeditious than individualized litigation. See Sterling v. Velsicol Chem. Co., 855 F.2d 1188 (6th Cir. 1988). 

[44] [3] Our reluctance to close the door on class action litigation in products liability cases is reinforced by current legal developments 
that could make class litigation more manageable. There has, for example, been discussion of federal class action legislation. See, e.g., 
Thomas D. Rowe, Jr., Beyond the Class Action Rule: An Inventory of Statutory Possibilities to Improve the Federal Class Action, 71 
N.Y.U. L. Rev. 186 (1996) (discussing several areas in which legislation might enhance federal class actions); William W. Schwarzer et 
al., Judicial Federalism: A Proposal to Amend the Multidistrict Litigation Statute to Permit Discovery Coordination of Large-Scale 
Litigation Pending in State and Federal Courts, 73 Tex. L. Rev. 1529 (1995) (proposing amendments to the multidistrict litigation 
statute, 28 U.S.C. 1407(a), to include state court cases). Further, the American Law Institute is now concluding its work on products
liability in the Restatement of the Law of Torts. See Restatement (Third) of Torts: Products Liability (Tent. Draft No. 3, 1996); see 
also James A. Henderson, Jr. et al., Optimal Issue Separation in Modern Products Liability Litigation, 73 Tex. L. Rev. 1653, 1661-67 
(1995) (discussing new Restatement as a reflection of current state of products liability law). 

[45] [4] In addition, the Advisory Committee on Civil Rules is in the process of modifying Rule 23, and has proposed authorizing the 
possible certification of settlement classes that need not meet the requirements of Rule 23(b)(3). See Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(b)(4) (Draft 
Aug. 15, 1996); see also Samuel Estreicher, Foreword, Federal Class Actions After 30 Years, 71 N.Y.U. L. Rev. 1, 6 & n.26 (1996) 
(noting that proposed (b)(4) category would allow trial courts to certify class actions for purposes of settlement, even though the 
requirements of subdivision (b)(3) might not be met for trial); Edward H. Cooper, Rule 23: Challenges to the Rulemaking Process, 71 
N.Y.U. L. Rev. 13 (1996) (discussing proposed changes to Rule 23). We observe that this idea has met with substantial opposition 



10/07/96 MONICA VALENTINO; MICHAE v. CARTER-WALLACE,... http://www.aegis.org/law/fedapp/9d/1996/1996C09775.html

5 of 6 10/29/2007 6:18 PM

from a number of quarters. See, e.g., In re General Motors Corp. Pick-Up Truck Fuel Tank Prods. Liab. Litig., 55 F.3d 768, 786-94 (3d
Cir.) (holding that under present rule settlement class must meet all Rule 23 requirements and expressing concern about dangers of 
overrewarding attorneys and undercompensating class members), cert. denied, 116 S. Ct. 88 (1995); see also Georgine v. Amchem 
Prods., 83 F.3d 610, 624-25 (3d Cir. 1996), petition for cert. filed, 65 U.S.L.W. 3159 (Aug. 19, 1996) (No. 96-270); John C. Coffee, 
Jr., Class Wars: The Dilemma of the Mass Tort Class Action, 95 Colum. L. Rev. 1343 (1995); John C. Coffee, Jr., Understanding the 
Plaintiff's Attorney: The Implications of Economic Theory for Private Enforcement of Law Through Class and Derivative Actions, 86 
Colum. L. Rev. 669 (1986). It is to be hoped that the debate on the proposed rule modification will add to our understanding of the 
appropriate role of class litigation in tort litigation. 

[46] For these reasons, we reject Carter-Wallace's position that the law of this circuit should prohibit any class certifications in 
products liability litigation. We therefore turn to the appropriateness of this particular certification order. 

[47] II. The Class Certification Order in This Case 

[48] [5] This court reviews a district court's decision to grant class certification for abuse of discretion. See Six (6) Mexican Workers v. 
Arizona Citrus Growers, 904 F.2d 1301, 1304 (9th Cir. 1990). In order for a class action to be certified, the plaintiffs must establish 
the four prerequisites of Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(a) and at least one of the alternative requirements of Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(b). See Fed. R. Civ. 
P. 23(b). An action may be maintained as a class action if the court finds that: (1) common questions of law and fact predominate over 
questions affecting individual members, and (2) a class action is superior to other available methods for the fair and efficient 
adjudication of the controversy. Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(b)(3); Dalkon Shield, 693 F.2d at 855-56. 

[49] [6] The certification order which we review is brief and conclusory. The record reflects that it was entered with the express hope 
on the part of the district judge of encouraging settlement, and to trigger a ruling from this court on the more general issue of the 
viability of class certification in this circuit. The order is provisional and contemplates the possibility of future modifications, 
additions, or refinements of sub-classes. The order was entered at an early stage in the proceedings, and the record simply does not 
reflect any basis for us to conclude that some key requirements of Rule 23 have been satisfied. 

[50] [7] It is not clear that Plaintiffs have met either the typicality or adequacy of representation requirement. See Fed. R. Civ. P. 
23(a)(3) and (4). The plaintiff-class representatives include two individuals who have had difficulty withdrawing from Felbatol and 
returning to prior medications, one alleging liver failure and one some unspecified type of liver damage. No named plaintiff has 
experienced aplastic anemia as a result of taking the drug, even though this condition is one of the most serious of the alleged adverse 
consequences. The named plaintiffs thus may not be able to provide adequate representation for those who have suffered different 
injuries. See Dalkon Shield, 693 F.2d at 854-55. 

[51] [8] Additionally, notice may be problematic. The number of known users who have reportedly suffered actual injuries from the 
drug is relatively small in comparison with all the users of the drug, so that many potential members of the classes cannot yet know if 
they are part of the class. We therefore have serious due process concerns about whether adequate notice under Rule 23(c)(2) can be 
given to all class members to enable them to make an intelligent choice as to whether to opt out. See 7B Wright et al., supra, 1786 at
197-98. 

[52] [9] The first requirement of Rule 23(b)(3) is predominance of common questions over individual ones. Implicit in the satisfaction 
of the predominance test is the notion that the adjudication of common issues will help achieve judicial economy. See 1 Newberg & 
Conte, supra, 4.25 at 4-86. Even if the common questions do not predominate over the individual questions so that class certification
of the entire action is warranted, Rule 23 authorizes the district court in appropriate cases to isolate the common issues under Rule 
23(c)(4)(A) and proceed with class treatment of these particular issues. See Dalkon Shield, 693 F.2d at 856; see also Copley, 158 
F.R.D. at 491; 7B Wright et al., supra, 1790 at 276; 1 Newberg & Conte, supra, 4.25 at 4-81.

[53] [10] Here, the certification order merely reiterates Rule 23(b)(3)'s predominance requirement and is otherwise silent as to any 
reason why common issues predominate over individual issues certified under Rule 23(c)(4)(A). There has been no showing by 
Plaintiffs of how the class trial could be conducted. See e.g., Castano, 84 F.3d at 741-44. The district court abused its discretion by not 
adequately considering the predominance requirement before certifying the class. See Dalkon Shield, 693 F.2d at 856; cf. Agent Orange,
818 F.2d at 163-67; School Asbestos, 789 F.2d at 1010-11. 

[54] [11] Last, but certainly not least, the district court must find that a class action is superior to other methods of adjudication. Fed. 
R. Civ. P. 23(b). Where classwide litigation of common issues will reduce litigation costs and promote greater efficiency, a class action 
may be superior to other methods of litigation. See Dalkon Shield, 693 F.2d at 856. A class action is the superior method for managing 
litigation if no realistic alternative exists. See Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(b)(3); 7A Wright et al., supra, 1779 at 552. But here, as in Dalkon
Shield, there has been no showing why the class mechanism is superior to alternative methods of adjudication, particularly when 
coupled with the discovery coordination that is made possible by the JPML consolidation. See Dalkon Shield, 693 F.2d at 856. Again, 
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the certification order merely reiterates Rule 23(b)(3)'s superiority requirement but contains no discussion of alternatives or why class 
adjudication is superior. 

[55] [12] The deficiencies in this certification are quite like those that caused the Sixth Circuit to reject the certification in American 
Medical, 75 F.3d at 1080-86. We similarly conclude that the district court abused its discretion by certifying particular issues for class 
adjudication. The district court's order is VACATED and the case is REMANDED for further proceedings. 

[56] VACATED AND REMANDED. 

***** BEGIN FOOTNOTE(S) HERE ***** 

[57] *fn* Honorable Edward C. Reed, Senior United States District Judge for the District of Nevada, sitting by designation. 

[58] *fn1 Aplastic anemia is a disease which interferes with the bone marrow's ability to produce blood cells, resulting in a decrease in 
blood cell counts. 

[59] *fn2 Rule 23(a) states: 

[60] One or more members of a class may sue or be sued as representative parties on behalf of all only if (1) the class is so numerous 
that joinder of all members is impracticable, (2) there are questions of law or fact common to the class, (3) the claims or defenses of the 
representative parties are typical of the claims or defenses of the class, and (4) the representative parties will fairly and adequately 
protect the interests of the class. 

[61] *fn3 Rule 23(b)(3) states, in pertinent part, that a class action may be maintained if: 

[62] . . . the court finds that the questions of law or fact common to the members of the class predominate over any questions affecting 
only individual members, and that a class action is superior to other available methods for the fair and efficient adjudication of the 
controversy. 

[63] Rule 23(c)(4)(A) states that when appropriate: 

[64] an action may be brought or maintained as a class action with respect to particular issues . . . 

***** END FOOTNOTE(S) HERE ***** 
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